@ Perfect Optronics Limited
ENXNEBRAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(REEHETMHA L ZHRA )
Stock Code % 131X 3% : 8311

2024

F ANNUAL
ik REPORT




GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on
the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there
is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility
for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Perfect Optronics Limited (the
“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), |
present the annual results of Perfect Optronics Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the
“Year”) to all of its shareholders.

The Group is principally engaged in the trading,
development and sales of display and optics products
and related electronic components, as well as trading of
health-related products and other products.

Reviewing the Year, the global display panel market had
experienced a complex cycle of fluctuations, and the
upstream and downstream of the industrial chain were
facing multiple challenges from the supply and demand
imbalance, changes in market demand and external
macro-environment. On the other hand, demand for
pandemic-related hygiene products continued to shrink in
the post-pandemic era. Such business environments
imposed prolonged pressure on the financial results of the
Group, revenue of the Group dropped by 25% from
approximately HK$124,255,000 during the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately HK$92,605,000
during the Year. Besides, the Group recognised a fair
value loss on its financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL”), being the Group’s investment in Mobvoi
Inc. (“Mobvoi”) of approximately HK$19,207,000 during the
Year, as compared to a fair value gain on financial asset
at FVTPL of approximately HK$10,647,000 in 2023. The
aforementioned adverse factors led to a significant
increase in loss for the Year as compared to 2023. Loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$42,906,000, representing
an increase in loss of approximately HK$23,802,000 as
compared to approximately HK$19,104,000 in 2023.
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Sales of medium-to-large sized display products, including
display panels and modules for computer notebooks,
monitors and televisions, remained the key revenue driver
of the Group during the Year. Display panels prices
continued to fluctuate throughout the Year due to the
weak domestic demand in China and the Group’s display
products (mainly supplied by Taiwan manufacturers) faced
fierce market competition from mainland China
manufacturers. The Group inclined to clear the inventories
on hand and purchase less inventories, which affected the
sales of the Group’s thin film transistor liquid crystal
display (“TFT-LCD”) panels and modules during the Year.
During the Year, sales of the Group’s TFT-LCD panels
and modules amounted to approximately HK$40,161,000,
representing a decrease of approximately 52% as
compared to approximately HK$83,992,000 in 2023.

With the rapid development of digital technologies,
electronic signage has penetrated various sectors, such as
digital advertising, conference displays, retail and
education, becoming a crucial medium for information
dissemination. Its ultra-high-definition resolution, dynamic
display, and interactive features cater to diverse market
demands, enhancing advertising effectiveness and the
optimizing user experience, which gained significant
popularity in the market. The multi-scenario application of
electronic signage not only demonstrates its strong
market potential but also provides solid growth
opportunities for the sales of the Group’s electronic
signage products. During the Year, the Group’s sales of
electronic signage products, which include digital
information signages, electronic shelf displays, and
electronic white boards, etc., amounted to approximately
HK$12,997,000, representing a decrease of approximately
7% as compared to that of approximately HK$14,029,000
in 2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in sales of electronic signage in education sector.

Although the sales of the Group’s major electronic
products, including TFT-LCD panels and modules and
electronic signage declined, optics products has become
another important revenue driver of the Group during the
Year. During the Year, sales of the Group’s optics
products grew to approximately HK$25,594,000,
representing an increase of approximately HK$20,600,000
as compared to approximately HK$4,994,000 in 2023.
These optics products mainly represented automotive
head-up display components. Benefiting from the robust
development of China’s new energy vehicles market, the
demand for automotive head-up display components
surged, thereby boosting the sales of the Group’s optics
products during the Year.
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The Group’s health-related products mainly included the
“K-clean” brand personal hygiene and disinfectant
products. With its high quality, “K-clean” brand has
established a good brand reputation in the market.
However, due to the declining demand for
pandemic-related hygiene products in the post-pandemic
era, the sales of the Group’s health-related products
amounted to approximately HK$12,799,000 during the
Year, representing a decrease of approximately 30% as
compared to approximately HK$18,209,000 in 2023. In
respond to market changes, the Group has proactively
expanded its product portfolio to various combination
rapid antigen test kits, which are popular products in the
flu seasons, and health supplements. Besides, recognising
the rapid growth of the pet economy, the Group
strategically entered the pet-care market, and begun to
launch a series of pet health food products during the
Year.

The Group’s financial asset at FVTPL refers to its
investment in Mobvoi. Mobvoi is principally engaged in
rending of artificial intelligence (“Al”) software solutions
and sale of smart devices and other accessories to
enterprise and individual customers. The Group held
certain preferred shares of Mobvoi since 2015. Since the
acquisition of the preferred shares of Mobvoi, the Group
had intended that the investment in Mobvoi would be held
for long-term investment purpose in the hope that the
value of the shares of Mobvoi would increase over time
and that Mobvoi will go public through an initial public
offering. During the Year, Mobvoi was successfully listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2438) in April 2024 and
the preferred shares of Mobvoi held by the Group were
converted to 25,213,220 ordinary shares of Mobvoi
(“Mobvoi Shares”). The Mobvoi Shares held by the Group
were subject to a lock-up period which expired on
23 October 2024. Share price of Mobvoi fluctuated
significantly after its listing. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group held a total of 25,213,220 Mobvoi Shares and the
fair value of which amounted to approximately
HK$16,641,000 based on the closing price on that day.
Accordingly, fair value loss of approximately
HK$19,207,000 was recognised during the Year, being the
difference between the fair value of the investment as at
31 December 2024 and that of approximately
HK$35,848,000 as at 31 December 2023. As compared
to a fair value gain of approximately HK$10,647,000
recognised in 2023, such fair value loss significantly
worsened the financial results of the Group for the Year.
In light of the listing of the Mobvoi Shares and the expiry
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of the lock-up period of the Mobvoi Shares held by the
Group. On 21 January 2025, an ordinary resolution of the
Company was passed to grant a mandate for the
disposal by the Group from time to time in the open
market or through block trade(s) of up to 25,213,220
Mobvoi Shares during the period of 12 months from 21
January 2025. Depending on the prevailing market
conditions, the Group may from time to time dispose of
up to all of the Mobvoi Shares held to realise its
investment in Mobvoi and reallocate its resources to other
business needs. It is expected that such disposal could
enable the Group to enhance its cash flow position, which
in turn could improve liquidity and solidify the financial
position of the Group.

Looking forward, facing the continued uncertainty in the
global economic environment, potential impacts of
geopolitical tensions and trade frictions in the market, the
Group’s business is expected to be full of challenges. The
Group will closely monitor market dynamics, flexibly adjust
business strategies, and continuously drive diversification
to enhance business resilience and competitiveness.
Meanwhile, the Group will continue to explore new market
opportunities across various areas, strengthen cooperative
relationships with suppliers and customers and create
greater value for the shareholders of the Company.

[, on behalf of the Board, would like to present my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, business partners
and customers for their support and trust over the years.
| also highly appreciate the contribution and dedication of
our management and staff.

Kan Man Wai
Acting Chairman
Perfect Optronics Limited

Hong Kong
25 March 2025
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A slowdown in the global economy, including the
economic climate in the mainland China, which has been
one of the major markets for display products, would
affect the results of the Group. A decrease in market
demand may put significant downward pressure on the
average selling prices. Reduced corporate and commercial
activities also have a negative impact on the demand for
and prices of the Group’s products. If the economy
continues to grow at a slow rate, or experiences a
prolonged recession, the Group’s business and results of
operations will continue to be adversely affected.

The Group places orders with its suppliers based on the
Group’s forecast of future procurement, customers’
intentions and indicated orders, customers’ recent
purchase orders and the Group’s inventory levels. Any
unanticipated drop in sales could cause the Group’s
inventories to accumulate. As technology evolves quickly,
the Group’s inventories may become obsolete and may
adversely affect the Group’s financial position and results
of operations.

Product trends, industry trends and other factors beyond
the Group’s control may cause fluctuations in selling
prices and raw material prices, which could have a drastic
and adverse effect on the Group’s gross profit and net
profit.

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk, price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. Details of such risks are set out in Note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction
with the Group’s consolidated financial statements and its
notes, which are included in this report.

Total revenue of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$92,605,000, representing an
approximately 25% decrease as compared with
approximately HK$124,255,000 in 2023. The decrease
was mainly due to the decrease in sales of the Group's
TFT-LCD panels and modules, and health-related
products during the Year.
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Cost of sales of the Group mainly consisted of purchase
costs, staff costs, provision for obsolete inventories and
other direct costs. Mainly due to the decrease in sales of
TFT-LCD panels and modules and health-related
products, purchase costs decreased and thus cost of
sales decreased during the Year as compared with 2023.
Total cost of sales of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$81,951,000 which decreased by
approximately 25% as compared to approximately
HK$108,961,000 in 2023.

Gross profit of the Group during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$10,654,000, which decreased by
approximately HK$4,640,000 as compared with
approximately HK$15,294,000 in 2023. The decrease in
gross profit during the Year was mainly due to the
decrease in revenue.

Net other losses of approximately HK$18,818,000 was
recorded for the Year, while net other gains of
approximately HK$10,956,000 was recorded in 2023. The
balance mainly included the fair value loss of
approximately HK$19,207,000 recognised for the Group’s
financial asset at FVTPL in respect of its investment in
Mobvoi during the Year (2023: fair value gain of
HK$10,647,000).

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$12,533,000, representing
an approximately 43% decrease as compared with
approximately HK$22,087,000 in 2023. The decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease in staff costs and
promotion expenses incurred for the Group’s health-related
products and the decrease in depreciation and impairment
loss on right-of-use assets related to the leases of
warehouses as compared to 2023.

The Group’s general and administrative expenses for the
Year amounted to approximately HK$21,557,000,
representing an approximately 10% decrease as
compared with approximately HK$23,890,000 in 2023.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
staff costs; and depreciation and impairment loss on
right-of-use assets related to the leases of offices as
compared to 2023.

The Group’s research and development expenses for the
Year amounted to approximately HK$1,227,000, which
increased by approximately 31% as compared to
approximately HK$938,000 in 2023, mainly due to the
increase in staff costs.
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The Group’s finance costs for the Year mainly
represented interest expenses on bank loan and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$150,000 (20283:
HK$169,000) and HK$79,000 (2023: HK$152,000),
respectively.

Mainly attributable to the fair value loss of the Group’s
investment in Mobvoi and the decrease in revenue from
the Group’s TFT-LCD panels and modules and
health-related products, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$42,906,000, representing
an increase in loss of approximately HK$23,802,000 as
compared to the loss of approximately HK$19,104,000 for
2023.

The financial key performance indicators are analysed as

follows:

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MERE
Revenue WA
Gross profit E
Gross profit margin EFI=E

Loss before interest, income tax,

depreciation and amortisation MERBHIESE
(‘EBITDA’) ([EBITDA )

Loss for the year FEBR

Loss attributable to equity holders AR A EA A
of the Company EihEE

Return on total assets (%)

Return on shareholders’ equity (%)

Basic loss per share

BRAS - PSR

15 B8R % (%)

PR 25 [ 3 R (%)

BREARER

Note

it &

(i)

(i)

AEE ARBENMBEREIRERRTERK
& & & A E R X 5 Al #9150,000% 7T (= F
=4 : 169,00078 7T ) R79,000/8 7 (= F = =

FEFHAEFRLERTPIBBNR AL BEES
B RAEMTFT-LODE IR & £ 48 LA & 2 B 48
EmOBRAXRBRIIAR AFEE  RNEBEH
SARNBEZREEA AELEIBY 542,906,000
B B T _=FHEE 719104000,%
JC * E5 1812 N 4923,802,0007% T °
FTEUBRREES>TAOT :

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
Percentage change
2023 Increase/(decrease)

BANEE

—Eo=F #m,/ CRd)
HK$’000
FHB T

124,255 (25)%

15,294 (30)%

12.3% Decreased by 0.8
percentage point

088 5 B

(16,390) 164%

(20,720) 111%

(19,104) 125%

-17.8% Decreased by 57.0

percentage points

WAB7.08 D B

-20.7% Decreased by 65.9

percentage points

. 65.98 7 B

HK(1.29) cents 124%
(1.29)7 L

BEXEHERAT 2024 F3R
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWE DM

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-8
Percentage change
Note 2024 2023 Increase/(decrease)
B EE
=3 —E-mE —E-=F #m,/ Cad)
HK$°000 HK$’000
THER FHIT
KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS ~ * Eftii5&
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEED 24,407 47,372 (48)%
Net current assets REEEFHE 41,117 50,301 (18)%
Total assets EEBE 58,357 116,131 (50)%
Bank borrowings RITEE 3,809 4,519 (16)%
Total liabilities BEAE 12,947 27,355 (53)%
Equity attributable to equity holders N A RI#EZHH A 49,573 92,295 (46)%
of the Company FElL =
Total equity R 45,410 88,776 (49)%
Current ratio (times) BN & (%) (iv) 5.2 times 3.2 times Increased
5.21% 3.21% by 2.0 times
# In2.05
Quick ratio (times) BB X (fF) (v) 4.7 times 2.4 times Increased
4.71% 2,415 by 2.3 times
902,35
Gearing ratio (%) EARBBELE%) (vi) 8.4% 5.1% Increased by 3.3
percentage points
33BN B
Debt-to-asset ratio (%) BEEELLE%) (vii) 6.5% 3.9% Increased by 2.6
percentage points
Bhn2.68 7 2
Notes: Bt
0] As the Group recorded loss before interest, income tax, depreciation (i) AREE-_T-_NFER=_T=_=F+=-A=+—HL
and amortisation during the years ended 31 December 2024 and FEAEEHBRAE FEH WEREHE
2023, no EBITDA margin are presented 8 - B /& £ 5|EBITDAR
(ii) Return on total assets = Loss for the year/Total assets (ii) MEERNRR=-FEHEE EELE
(iif) Return on shareholders’ equity = Loss attributable to equity holders (i) RRERERE=NANRERFEARGEE AR
of the Company/Equity attributable to equity holders of the AERFEARGER
Company
(iv) Current ratio = Current assets/Current liabilities (iv) R R-RBEE/RBHAE
(v) Quick ratio = (Current assets — Inventories)/Current liabilities v) R E=(RBEE — BE) / RPEE
(vi) Gearing ratio = Total interest-bearing bank borrowings/Total equity — (vi) BERBELR=; BRITIEELE e E
(viij  Debt-to-asset ratio = Total interest-bearing bank borrowings/Total  (vii) BEEELR=HEBRTIEERE BERLE

assets

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024



The Group’s funds are principally used to finance working AEBHNES I ERERNTLEES KA
capital, and the growth and expansion of the Group's £EZERHEERGEHNERLERIEHES -
operations and sales network. The Group's principal AEEIZMESRELBLEEELNRER
sources of funds are cash generated from operations and ~ RITEE -R_FT_HFE+_A=+—H &K
bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s S EMR & LR & FEY B B #I24,407,000/8
cash and cash equivalents, represented by bank deposits, Jt(=ZZ& = =4 : 47,372,000/ 7T) * J1 BIR1TF
bank balances and cash, amounted to approximately - R1IT&#HNIE S -
HK$24,407,000 (2023: HK$47,372,000).
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank deposits, bank ~ AEBERITHFR  RITEHRRRENREE
balances and cash are denominated in the following JyMA K%l & ¥ =+1E
currencies:
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2023
B
HK$’000
FAET
United States dollars (“USD”) EA(E ) 15,818
Renminbi (“RMB”) ARBITARE]D 11,500
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) B (ATl 19,404
New Taiwan dollars (“TWD”) Hmak(masl) 650
47,372
As at 31 December 2024, the Group's total bank W-ZT_ME+-F=+—H AEERTE
borrowings comprised bank loan of approximately & 48 ¥ B % iR 17 & 5K 493,809,000/ 7t (= F
HK$3,809,000 (2023: HK$4,519,000). The scheduled = =% : 4,519,000/ 7T) « 1R & & 3K 1£3 5 AT 4 &
repayment date of the Group’s bank borrowings, as set Taf REMZRERERGEKNTE  NEEIR
out in the loan agreement and without considering the TEEZtEEEBHEMOT :
effect of any repayment on demand clauses were as
follows:
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—H
2023
T =%
HK$’000
FA T
On demand or within a period not REBRINTBIBIE
exceeding 1 year HA F 709
Within a period of more than 1 year £ % 1F B A R2F
but not exceeding 2 years HA 735
Within a period of more than 2 years £ % N2 B TR BS54
but not exceeding 5 years HA F) 2,370
Within a period of more than 5 years i 54 #1fH 705
4,519
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s bank W-T_MER—_FT_=F+—F=+—H
loan was floating interest rate loan denominated in HK$. REBMRITERBZEBFNEER - OBITE
B

BEXEHERAT 2024 F3R
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
unutilised banking facilities restricted for trade finance
purposes (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net current assets
position was HK$41,117,000 (2023: HK$50,301,000) with
cash and cash equivalents of HK$24,407,000 (2023:
HK$47,372,000). As detailed in note 2.1(a) to the
consolidated financial statements, the Board has been
implementing various measures to improve the Group’s
liquidity and financial position. The Board, after making
due enquiries and considering the basis of management’s
cashflow forecast and after taking into account the
reasonably possible changes in the operation performance
of the Group, believes there will be sufficient financial
resources available to the Group at least for the twelve
months after 31 December 2024 to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due.

The capital of the Company only comprises ordinary
shares. There has been no change in the capital structure
of the Group during the Year.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies.

The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by
monitoring on an ongoing basis with reference to the
financial position of the debtors, past experience and
other factors. The Group performs regular credit
evaluations of its major customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the management closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position and maintains sufficient cash to settle the
payables of the Group.

The Group’s management policies, working environment,
career prospects and employees’ benefits have
contributed to building good employee relations and
employee retention of the Group. The Group offers
competitive remuneration packages commensurate with
industry practice and provides various fringe benefits to
employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
mandatory provident funds, bonuses and a share option
scheme. The management regularly reviews its
employees’ remuneration packages to ensure they are up
to prevailing market standards.

As at 31 December 2024, the employee headcount
of the Group was 53 (2023: 67) and the total staff
costs, including directors’ emoluments, amounted to
approximately HK$22,595,000 during the Year (2023:
HK$24,713,000).

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

R-ZZE-_WNE+-A=+—H KEFLEF
MERBEESRMENKRBAMEITEE(Z
T E)
RZEBE-_WNF+_A=+—H XEBZ2FR
B & E A41,117,0008 T(= T = = F:
50,301,000 L) BRERE MBS EEY
24,407,0007% T (= T = = % : 47,372,000/
JC) o AR A ISR 2.1 il - EEEE
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The Group has established long term business
relationships with its major suppliers for over ten years.
The Group has entered into long term supply framework
agreements with these suppliers. The Group will endeavor
to maintain its established relationship with these existing
suppliers.

The Group has a well-established business relationship
with its customers and has gained recognition in the TFT-
LCD panel industry in China. Some of its customers have
over ten-year business relationships with the Group. The
Group endeavours to secure the business with existing
customers and at the same time devotes to develop new
reliable customers in new markets.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no charge of
assets (2023: Nil).

The Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in USD, HK$, RMB and TWD.
HK$ are reasonably stable against the USD under the
Linked Exchange Rate System. In addition, the
management considers that the impact on exchange
differences for RMB and TWD is not significant as at
31 December 2024. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Board will
continuously monitor the related foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments (2023: Nil).

The Board does not recommend nor declare any dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).

In January 2015, the Group subscribed for 25,213,220
Series A-2 preferred shares of Mobvoi (the “Preferred
Shares”) at a consideration of USD3,000,000. Mobvoi is
principally engaged in the rendering of Al software
solutions and sale of smart devices and other accessories
to enterprise and individual customers. The Group does
not have any management or operational role in Mobvoi.

AEHEDERAETFEHERZVATFANRER
R  AEERZEHEH L RPHEIE
Rt - AKRBERR N BAZERGHEFES
BEE R -
AEBEERFHARBEXRHHAR LXFHE
TFT-LCDER TR EERA - Ao ¥ HEALE
BEAEE T FONEBER AEBH R
HPBEFPHNEY RARRGFME  BRE
BEENHER -

AEENEBRRS EEMABBEYHEBZUE
T BT ARERHABE - RBEBER
BIET BULAETHEETE - WIN BEE
RAEARZZ-_NF+-_A=+—H0 AREXK
FeKERZH s ErEA Bl AEH
WEINEL SRR - AT EEF B IEBEE
HENERR YR EFTEREEHHAEAM
HNEE LR o

RNRZE-_WNE+=—_A=+—H AEFILEF
MERXEAAE(ZZE == ) o
AFEE BESETEZ2EFREREMAMEE(ZZ
T=FE) o

RZZE—RF— A NEERIE T725,213,2208%
E B EA2RANEER(TEER])  KEA
3,000,000% 7 » i PIFE M E B E R DX KA
ASFEREATSETGFERTRENEES R
BB R E MM o AL B E L PIEM I E A

BEXEHERAT 2024 F3R
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There have been no addition to or disposal of such
investment by the Group since it made the investment in
January 2015. During the Year, Mobvoi completed the
initial public offering of its ordinary shares (the “Mobvoi
IPO”) and the Mobvoi Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2438) in April 2024. Meanwhile,
the Preferred Shares held by the Group were converted
to 25,218,220 Mobvoi Shares upon the closing of the
Mobvoi IPO. The Group, as well as other pre-IPO
investors of Mobvoi, had undertaken with Mobvoi and the
sponsors and the underwriters of the Mobvoi IPO not to
dispose of their respective Mobvoi Shares for a period
that lasts until 6 months from the date dealings in the
Mobvoi Shares on the Stock Exchange commenced (i.e.
up to 23 October 2024), as an effort to facilitate the
carrying out of the Mobvoi IPO.

The Group’s investment in Mobvoi is classified as financial
asset at FVTPL. As at 31 December 2024, the fair value
of the Group’s investment in Mobvoi was approximately
HK$16,641,000, representing approximately 28.5% of the
Group’s total assets. No dividend has been received by
the Group from Mobvoi since the Group made the
investment. A fair value loss of approximately
HK$19,207,000 was recognised on such financial asset
during the Year.

The Company considers that the investment in Mobvoi
provides an opportunity to the Group to share in and gain
from the development potentials of Mobvoi and its
products and technology.

On 21 January 2025, an ordinary resolution of the
Company was passed to grant a mandate for the
disposal (the “Disposal(s)”) by Skyteam Resources Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from
time to time in the open market or through block trade(s)
of up to 25,213,220 ordinary shares in the share capital of
Mobvoi during the period of 12 months from 21 January
2025. Details of the possible Disposals are set out in the
circular of the Company dated 31 December 2024. No
Disposals have been made up to the date of this annual
report.

Save for the abovementioned, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other
company as at 31 December 2024.

Save for the possible Disposals at appropriate time(s) and
price(s) in order to maximise the returns to the Group, the
Group did not have plans for material investments and
capital assets as at 31 December 2024.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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The Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the Year.

Reference is made to the announcements of the
Company dated 26 September 2019, 4 October 2019,
10 January 2020, 9 April 2020, 10 July 2020 and
25 September 2020. On 25 September 2019, the
Company received a sealed copy of a petition (the
“Petition”) issued by the High Court of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) which
was taken out by the Securities and Futures Commission
(the “SFC”) pursuant to section 214 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance against certain current Directors,
namely Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Liu Ka Wing and Mr. Tse
Ka Wing, and certain former Directors, namely Mr. Wong
Yik Chung John, Mr. Wong Chi Chiu and Mr. Li Shui Yan
(collectively “the Director Respondents”), and the
Company. The SFC alleged in the Petition that the
Director Respondents had breached their duties as
directors of the Company in relation to the disposal of a
subsidiary of the Company holding an approximately
50.14% shareholding in A 3 % & & 7 & R & A
(Shinyoptics Corporation®) (details of such disposal were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
22 December 2016). As the Company is only a nominal
respondent to the Petition and pursuant to the order of
the High Court, the Company is not required to actively
participate in the legal proceedings in respect of the
Petition.

As detailed in the Company’s announcement dated
25 September 2020, with effect from 25 September
2020, pending the outcome of the legal proceedings of
the Petition, the Director Respondents have been
suspended from their duties as Directors. Mr. Cheng Wai
Tak has also been suspended from his duties as the
Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”) of the Company. Mr. Kan Man Wai, an
independent non-executive Director, has been appointed
as the acting Chairman in place of Mr. Cheng Wai Tak.
The function of the CEO is shared among the
management staff of the Company and other members of
the Board.

The Company understands the Director Respondents
disagree with the allegations of the SFC in the Petition,
and intend to vigorously contest the Petition. As at the
date of this report, the legal proceedings of the Petition
are ongoing.

*for identification purpose only
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The Company is committed to achieving high standards of
corporate governance with a view to safeguarding the
interests of its shareholders. To accomplish this, the
Company has adopted the principles and the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Throughout the Year, the Company had complied with all
the code provisions of the CG Code for the time being in
force.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
complied with the required standard of dealings and the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors adopted by the Company during the Year.

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
four executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The composition of the Board during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report was as
follows.

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (suspended)
Mr. Liu Ka Wing (suspended)
Mr. Tse Ka Wing (suspended)
Mr. Chang Huan Chia

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kan Man Wai (Acting Chairman)

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen

Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (appointed on 1 July 2024)

Mr. Cho Chi Kong (resigned on 1 July 2024)

Mr. Wong Yik Chung John (suspended) (retired on
18 June 2024)

Mr. Wong Chi Chiu (suspended) (retired on
18 June 2024)

Except for Mr. Cho Chi Kong, Mr. Wong Yik Chung John
and Mr. Wong Chi Chiu who resigned/retired during the
Year, biographical details of all Directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 75 to
77 of this annual report. To the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among members of the
Board.
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25 September 2020, pending the outcome of the legal
proceedings of the Petition against certain current
Directors, including Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Liu Ka Wing
and Mr. Tse Ka Wing, and certain former Directors,
including Mr. Wong Yik Chung John and Mr. Wong Chi
Chiu have been suspended from their duties as Directors
with effect from 25 September 2020. Mr. Kan Man Wai
has been appointed as the acting Chairman in place of
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak with effect from 25 September 2020.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 25 September 2020.

The Board is responsible for establishing the strategic
direction of the Company and its subsidiaries; setting
objectives and business development plans; monitoring
the performance of the senior management; and assuming
responsibility for corporate governance. The management
is responsible for implementing the strategies and plans
established by the Board and reporting on the Group’s
operations to the Board on a regular basis to ensure
effective performance of the Board’s responsibilities.

The management provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates in accordance with the code provision
D.1.2 of the CG Code.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of
any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through
other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association. All minutes of
the Board meetings were recorded in sufficient detail of
the matters considered by the Board and the decisions
made.
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Four regular board meetings were held during the Year.
The attendance of individual Directors at these board
meetings were as follows:

Name

" E

Executive Directors: HITESE
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak B & 128 5
Mr. Liu Ka Wing BRIt
Mr. Tse Ka Wing BIEN P
Mr. Chang Huan Chia DR EE
Independent non-executive Directors: 7 IFH
Mr. Kan Man Wai SR 5
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen BREHX
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (Note 1) DFE L
Mr. Cho Chi Kong (Note 2) BRI
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John (Note 3) EEBL
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu (Note 3) HEEBEL

Note 1: Appointed on 1 July 2024

Note 2: Resigned on 1 July 2024

Note 3: Retired on 18 June 2024

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.
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The Group, together with its legal advisors, continuously
update the Directors on the latest developments regarding
the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. The
Company has received the Directors’ training records for
the Year, and a summary of training participated by the
Directors during the Year is set out below:

Name

" E

Executive Directors: HITEE
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak B (& 128 5
Mr. Liu Ka Wing e
Mr. Tse Ka Wing R
Mr. Chang Huan Chia DR
Independent non-executive Directors: BT IFH T
Mr. Kan Man Wai SR 5
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REH I
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky DR EL

Note 1: attending training courses, seminars, workshops or in-house
briefings or giving talks

Note 2: reading materials relating to laws and regulations, corporate
governance, and other topics relevant to the Group’s strategy
and business

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for
a term of three years.

By virtue of article 112 of the articles of association of the
Company, the Board shall have power from time to time
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director
but the number of Directors so appointed shall not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to
time by the shareholders in general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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In compliance with the code provision in B.2.2 of the CG
Code, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. Furthermore, pursuant to
article 108(a) of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not
3 or a multiple of 3, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation,
provided that every Director (including those appointed for
a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every 3 years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general
meeting at which a Director retires may fill the vacated
office.

By virtue of article 108 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Tse Ka Wing and Mr.
Kan Man Wai will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from
1 July 2024. Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules
on 13 June 2024, and he has confirmed that he
understood his obligations as a Director. In accordance
with the article 112 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election.

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
independent non-executive Directors, representing more
than one-third of the Board and with at least one of
whom having appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received annual independence confirmation
from each of the existing independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Board considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules
for the Year.

The Board has established, with written terms of
reference, three Board committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. The Board committees are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge their duties. The
written terms of reference for each Board committee are
in line with the GEM Listing Rules and are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively.
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The Company has established an audit committee on
20 January 2014 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and
code provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. As at the date of
this report, the audit committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hsu
Wai Man Helen, who has the appropriate accounting and
related financial management expertise and serves as the
chairperson of the audit committee, Mr. Kan Man Wai and
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky.

The primary duties of the audit committee are (but without
limitation) to assist the Board in providing an independent
view of the effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting process and internal control and to review the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems,
to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The audit committee held three meetings during the Year.

Its composition and attendance of individual members at
these audit committee meetings are as follows:

Members of the audit committee

EREZEEGRE

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairperson) REE
Mr. Kan Man Wai 5 XX
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (Note 1) 2%

Mr. Cho Chi Kong (Note 2) 'R

Note 1: Appointed as a member of the audit committee on 1 July 2024

Note 2: Resigned on 1 July 2024 and ceased to be a member of the audit
committee

During the Year, the audit committee reviewed the
Company’s annual financial statements, annual results
announcement, interim results announcements and
reports; discussed and reviewed the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group; reviewed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function;
met with the independent external auditors and reviewed
report from the independent external auditors regarding
their audit on annual financial statements.

The Company established a remuneration committee on
20 January 2014 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. As
at the date of this report, the remuneration committee
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Kan Man Wai, who serves as the chairman of
the remuneration committee, Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen and
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky.
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The primary duties of the remuneration committee include HBZE €M T ER S BE(ERER) : ()5t
(out without limitation): (i) making recommendations to the —4{1EZEERSHREIEE R HEHBR R Z2E AR
Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration of HIF] EX R BB FH BRI L2 R MES
Directors and senior management and on the SRHEHKEEESR  ((BETE=EhafEEER
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for EFHMEEZ G5 Ri)iEBEEZ S N RE
developing policies on such remuneration; (i) determining MM EBER A EFIMZRIERREETNH
the terms of the specific remuneration packages of the  Ffl °
Directors and senior management; and (i) reviewing and
approving performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time.
During the Year, the remuneration committee held two RAFERN  FMEESRIT TMALZE U
meetings for, inter alia, reviewing the policy and structure (EFBE)BEMEEST RS A EEE I
for all remuneration of Directors and senior management, HHK NK2EHE  FEATEENRE - HLEHTT
assessing performance of executive Directors, approving ZEREAANRBYIFATESHRIENIE
the terms of executive Directors’ service contract and A RBHATES SAEEBLIIB I IE
independent non-executive Directors’ appointment letter, HITEZMEHMES  URBUIFERTEE 2
and making recommendations to the Board regarding the # & MEZ=Z@EH -FHEZESEMEEAL
remuneration packages of executive Directors, senior HERMERTMEEXZSHEREEMRAES
management and new independent non-executive EIRHHEEEE -
Director, and director’s fee of independent non-executive
Directors. The remuneration committee was satisfied with
the existing arrangement and did not make
recommendation to the Board on any change of such
policy and structure.
Number of remuneration
committee meetings
Members of the remuneration committee attended/held
HEBITH
FMEES
FHEEERE BERE
Mr. Kan Man Wai (Chairman) i X8 e (F ) 2/2
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen BwEHLZT 2/2
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (Note 1) 5% & % & (M FE1) —/=
Mr. Cho Chi Kong (Note 2) BEHREE(WE2) 2/2

Note 1: Appointed as a member of the remuneration committee on 1 July
2024

Note 2: Resigned on 1 July 2024 and ceased to be a member of the
remuneration committee

Each of the Directors will receive a fee which is subject to
an annual adjustment at a rate to be reviewed by the
remuneration committee and be determined at the
discretion of the Board. The Company’s policy concerning
the remuneration of the Directors is that the amount of
remuneration is determined by reference to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibilities, workload and time
devoted to the Group. The Group has adopted incentive
bonus schemes and continues to maintain these schemes
in order to align the financial well-being of the Group with
that of the employees, and to retain the Directors and
staff of high caliber.
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The executive Directors are also the senior management
of the Company. Details of the remuneration of executive
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in Note 34(a) to the audited consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report.

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme
on 18 June 2024 pursuant to which the Company may
grant options to eligible persons, details of which are set
out from pages 83 to 86 of this annual report. No share
option has been granted under the share option schemes
of the Company since their adoptions.

The Company established a nomination committee on
20 January 2014 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. As
at the date of this report, the nomination committee
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky, who serves as chairman
of the nomination committee, Mr. Kan Man Wai and
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen.

The primary functions of the nomination committee
include making recommendations to the Board to Afill
vacancies on the same, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors and
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board.

During the Year, the nomination committee held two
meeting for, inter alia, reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and board diversity policy,
discussing matters regarding the retirement and
re-election of Directors, assessment of the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, reviewing the
Company’s policy for the nomination of Directors (the
“Nomination Policy”) and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment of new independent non-
executive Director in accordance with the Nomination
Policy.

Members of the nomination committee

REZEERE

Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (Chairman) (Note 1) 2135
Mr. Kan Man Wai 1532
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REE
Mr. Cho Chi Kong (Note 2) i

Note 1: Appointed as the chairman and a member of the nomination
committee on 1 July 2024

Note 2: Resigned on 1 July 2024 and ceased to be the chairman and a
member of the nomination committee
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The Nomination Policy was adopted by the Company
pursuant to Board resolutions. The nomination committee

will review the Nomination Policy,

as appropriate, to

ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and will

discuss any
recommend any such

revisions that may be required, and
revisions to the Board for

consideration and approval. The Nomination Policy is set
out as follows:

This policy sets out the criteria and procedures to
be adopted when considering candidates to be
appointed or re-elected as Directors.

The nomination committee shall
following criteria

consider the
in evaluating and selecting

candidates for directorship:

Character and integrity;

Qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy;

Willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board;

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

Requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the GEM Listing Rules; and

Such other perspectives as are appropriate to
the Company’s business or as suggested by
the Board.
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3.1.1

The nomination committee reviews the
structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board periodically and
makes recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

3.1.2 When it is necessary to fill a causal

vacancy or appoint an additional
director, the nomination committee
identifies or selects candidates
recommended to the committee, with or
without assistance from external
agencies or the Company, pursuant to
the “Nomination Criteria” set out above;

3.1.3If the process yields one or more

desirable candidates, the nomination
committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable);

3.1.4 The nomination committee makes

recommendation to the Board including
the terms and conditions of the
appointment; and

3.1.5 The Board deliberates and decides on the

3.2.1

appointment based upon the
recommendation of the nomination
committee.

In accordance with the Company’s
articles of association, every director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and shall
be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting;

3.2.2 The nomination committee shall review

the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director. The
nomination committee shall also review
the expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring director who
offered himself/herself for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to determine
whether such director continues to meet
the “Nomination Criteria” as set out
above; and

>
M
R
o
H
Of

A

k=
B
&0

311 IERE B¢
=)
1 M 4
Eﬂg%@
LABE& AR

2
o

W 5

i e e

" B 1D BRI
‘3¢

St
i

g
R EEE
e 7 <
A
=

S >-Fi
- P

W8l Fib EE
I
- RPN
sl
Cih

e

=
-
it
i
SR E

Y (4 8 SZ
o> F b
K S

R Bte

B>
- S 20 6

N
S
3

3.1.4

S% I
 ff

Pt it
> m
B

i EE
W@

il T

St m
Dl

ik WA R

.- -
&

ko

3.1.5

ik ot
T ]]]E>
Bk
%A S
Al DY
2t WA
m
i3S
= BF
JiE ﬁ

t

i
S #i
% N

o

3.2.1 1R

53

f
=
pe
o= e

) WA
=)0
m i3
= 2
B
% o2
=
[mry
o
it
M

0 e i T

o DI
W2 m i B

ke =5 [ IR
4 - A
I S 18 18
gt =t
=

B

i Gt

N R L S R
. A >t 0
-

71} ik 52
I3 S i S FI

=
»
i

BEXEHERAT 2024 F3R

27



28

>
He
il
o
Ly
OfF

3.2.3 Based on the review made by nomination
committee, the Board shall make
recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company,
and provide the available biographical
information of the retiring director in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules
to enable shareholders to make informed
decisions on the re-election of such
candidates at annual general meeting of
the Company.

The shareholders of the Company may
propose a person for election as a director in
accordance with the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company and
applicable law. For more details, please refer
to the section in Company’s website “Investor
Relations — Corporate governance -
Procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as director”.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. The Company embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. Pursuant to the Diversity Policy, the
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of aspects, including (but not
limited to) gender, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and educational background. All appointments
of the Board members will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board.

Current Board members have varied educational
backgrounds and expertises, diverse perspectives and
competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to
the Group, including accounting, corporate finance,
strategic planning, business development and
management. The Board currently has one female Director
and six male Directors and the Board will take
opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are
identified.

The Board places emphasis on diversity (including gender
diversity) across all levels of the Group. The employee
gender ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024 is 30
males: 23 females. The Group when hiring employees
considers a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background,
qualification, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service, and the Group will make
sure achieving gender diversity across the workforce.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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During the Year, the nomination committee has
considered and reviewed the Diversity Policy and
considered that the existing Diversity Policy is suitable
and effective.

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried
out by the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of
reference adopted by the Board, which include (a)
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance (including
shareholders’ communication policy, board diversity policy
and mechanism on independent views to the Board) and
making recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company and its subsidiaries; (c) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors and its subsidiaries; (e) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosures in the corporate governance report of the
Company required to be prepared pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules; and (f) considering, reviewing and deciding
any other topics as authorised by the Board.

During the Year, the Board reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was
satisfied with the effectiveness of its corporate
governance policy.

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for
that period and are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards and principles, applicable laws and
disclosure provisions as required under the GEM Listing
Rules. The Directors are of the view that the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
have been prepared on these bases.

The Directors are aware that during the Year, the Group
recorded a loss for the year of HK$43,641,000 and had a
net cash outflow from operating activities of
HK$18,014,000. As at 31 December 2024, the Group‘s
net current assets position was HK$41,117,000 with cash
and cash equivalents of HK$24,407,000. The Group
experienced recurring losses and multiple challenges from
frequent changes in market demands, shrinking sales and
external macro-environment.
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The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. The
Board has assessed the appropriateness of adopting the
going concern basis for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024. In order to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position, the Group has been implementing
various measures as follows:

(i) the Group will dispose of its financial asset at FVTPL
with a carrying amount of HK$16,641,000 as at
31 December 2024 within a certain period;

(i) the Group will continue to take initiatives to
implement cost control measures, including adjusting
human resources and streamlining other operating
costs; and

(i)  the Group will continue its efforts to implement
measures to strengthen its operating cash flows and
working capital position, including adjusting sales
activities to better respond to market needs, making
efforts to promote sales and deferring discretionary
capital expenditures, where necessary.

The Board has reviewed the Group’s cashflow forecast
prepared by management which covers a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 December 2024. The
Board, after making due enquiries and considering the
basis of management’s cashflow forecast described above
and after taking into account the reasonably possible
changes in the operation performance of the Group,
believes there will be sufficient financial resources
available to the Group at least for the twelve months after
31 December 2024 to meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due. Accordingly, the Board considers that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty exists
as to whether management of the Group is able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above.
Whether the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern would depend upon the Group’s ability to
generate adequate cash flows through achieving the
below plans and measures:

(i) successful disposal of its financial asset at FVTPL
within a certain period to generate the cash flow as
planned; and

(if) successful implementation of measures to control
operating costs, adjust sales activities to promote
sales and deferring discretionary capital
expenditures where necessary, so as to improve the
Group’s cash flow position.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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The audit committee had reviewed the disclosure by the
external auditors on the material uncertainty relating to
going concern, the management’s position and the
measures implemented by the Group to address the
issue. The audit committee is in agreement with the
respect to the

management of the Company with
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disclosure by the auditors and the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, as well as the measures

implemented by the Group.

The responsibilities of the external auditors in financial
reporting are set out in the independent auditor’s report
attached to the Company’s consolidated financial
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statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 in this

annual report.

For the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to AFEE RE
PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of audit and non-audit & ¥ 2& & &

services provided is set out below:

Services rendered

Fir 12 48 BR %

Audit services
Non-audit services
— agreed-upon procedures
— reporting accountant for circular of
the Company
— tax compliance services

Total

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to maintain an
effective risk management and internal control systems in
order to safeguard the Group’s assets and investments
and the shareholders’ interest. The Board oversees the
overall risk management of the Group and endeavors to
identify, control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. Such
risk management and internal control

systems are

Remuneration
paid/payable
e ER#ME
HK$’000
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designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of

failure to achieve business objectives,

and can only

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

The Group has established a risk management policy 7%
setting out the process of identification, evaluation and &
management of the principal risks affecting the business. =&
Each division is responsible for identifying, assessing and &
identifying and

managing risks within its divisions,

assessing the principal risks (including environmental,
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social and governance risks) on a quarterly basis with
mitigation plans to manage those risks. The management
is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control activities of the Group, attending quarterly
meetings with each divisions to ensure principal risks are
properly managed and new or changing risks are
identified and documented. Lastly, the Board is
responsible for reviewing and approving the effectiveness
and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

The risk management framework, coupled with the
Group’s internal controls, ensures that the risks
associated with different divisions are effectively controlled
in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management report was submitted to the audit
committee and the Board for review.

Given the Group’s size and relatively simple corporate
structure, the Group does not have an internal audit
function within itself. Nevertheless the Company engaged
an external consultant, CT Partners Consultants Limited
(“CT Partners”), to carry out internal audit function and
had during the Year conducted review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The review covered, inter alia, the
internal control systems over the sales, receipt and
receivable and financial reporting cycles of the Group, and
the external consultant made recommendations for
improving the Group’s internal control systems. The
internal control review report was submitted to the audit
committee and the Board for review. The audit committee
has requested the management to follow up with the
recommendations of the external consultant to remedy
control issues identified and to further improve the
Group’s internal control system.

The Company has adopted the following internal control
measures:

(@) The officers of the Group will cross check the
counterparty with the list of connected persons
updated on a monthly basis to identify potential
connected transaction.

(b) A material transactions authorisation policy and
procedures (the “Policy”), which include (i)
implementing additional authorisation procedures by
setting different thresholds on the amount of all
transactions with specific authorisation requirements;
(i) preparing monthly reports with details of the
transactions above certain thresholds for the Board
and the audit committee’s review to identify if there
is any irregularity or doubtful transaction; and (iii)
providing ad hoc training to the Group employees to
ensure they are familiar with the Policy. During the
Year, the Company has engaged CT Partners, an
independent internal control consultant, to evaluate
the effectiveness and review the implementation and
enforcement of the Policy.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of accounting
and financial reporting functions. After having conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, the Board has reached the
conclusion that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems were in place, effective and adequate.
The Board will review and assess the risk management
and internal control systems at least once a year.

The Company has established a whistle-blowing policy
and system for employees of the Group to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control and other matters. No significant areas of concern
that may affect the financial, operational, compliance,
controls and risk management of the Group have been
identified.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has adopted a policy on
disclosure of inside information, with an aim to ensure
that the insiders abide by the confidentiality requirement
and fulfill the disclosure obligation of inside information.
The policy describes clearly the decision trees to identify
inside information and take necessary actions. Employees
and other relevant parties are required to keep inside
information in strict confidence. The Group is committed
to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading, or false or misleading through
omission of a material fact in view of presenting
information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and
investors with high standards of disclosure and financial
transparency. The Board is committed to providing clear
and detailed information of the Group to its shareholders
in a timely manner and on a regular basis, through the
publication of interim and annual reports and/or
dispatching circulars, notices, and other announcements.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the Company’s
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and other
members of the respective committees are available to
answer questions from the shareholders at the general
meeting. The Company recognises the importance of
maintaining on-going communications with the
shareholders and encourages them to attend general
meetings to stay informed of the Group’s businesses and
convey any concerns they may have to the Directors and
senior management.
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The Company maintains a website at
http://www.perfect-optronics.com where extensive
information and updates on the Company’s financial
information, corporate governance practices and other
useful information are posted and available for access by
the public investors.

At the annual general meeting held on 18 June 2024,
separate resolutions were proposed by the acting
Chairman in respect of each separate issue, including the
re-election of directors and voted by way of poll. The
Company announced the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the GEM Listing Rules. The then
chairman of each of the Board, audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee
attended the annual general meeting held in 2024 to
ensure effective communication with shareholders of the
Company. All Directors attended the annual general
meeting held in 2024.

The Board reviewed the validity of implementation of the
shareholders’ communication policy of the Company
during the Year and considered that it remained effective
in enhancing timely, transparent, accurate and open
communication between the Company and its
shareholders.

Pursuant to Article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting. Extraordinary general
meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of one
or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company with voting rights in the general
meetings attached thereto. Such requisition shall be made
in writing to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21
days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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Article 113 of the articles of association of the Company
provides that no person other than a retiring Director,
shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be
eligible for election to the office of Director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice
in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registered office. The period for lodgment of the notices
required under this Article will commence no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later
than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting
and the minimum length of the period during which such
notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7
days. The written notice must state that person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. The procedures for shareholders of
the Company to propose a person for election as director
is posted on the Company’s website.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by mail to the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong. The Company Secretary forwards communications
relating to matters within the Board’s purview to the
Board and communications relating to ordinary business
matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and complaints, to
the executive Directors.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

The Board plays a leading role in defining the purpose,
values and strategies of the Company, and aligning them
with the culture of the Company. The Board sets the tone
and shapes the company culture of the Company, which
is instilled and continuously reinforced by the core values
of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all
levels of the Company. The Company endeavours to act
responsibly and maintain accountability to its employees,
shareholders, other stakeholders, as well as the
community. The Company’s purpose, values and
strategies form the foundations of the culture of the
Company, which adheres to strong ethical values and
strives for sustainable development.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to
provide guidance to employees and external stakeholders
to report concerns about any suspected or actual
improprieties relating to the Group.
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The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.
Subject to approval of the Chairman of the Board,
Directors may seek, at the Company’s expense,
independent legal, financial or other professional advices
from advisors independent to those advising the Company
as and when necessary in appropriate circumstances to
enable them to discharge their responsibilities effectively.
The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board reviewed the validity of implementation of such
mechanisms during the Year and considered that such
mechanisms are effective.

Under the Companies Act of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company, dividends may be paid out of the profits of the
Company, or subject to solvency of the Company, out of
sums standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company. However, no dividend shall exceed the
amount recommended by Directors.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends
of the Company is subject to the approval of the
Directors, depending on results of operations, working
capital, financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which the
Directors may consider relevant from time to time. Any
future declaration, recommendation and payment of
dividends of the Company may or may not reflect the
historical declarations and payments of dividends and will
be at the absolute discretion of the Directors. The
Company does not have any predetermined dividend
payout ratio.

The Company Secretary, Mr. Tse Ka Wing (“Mr. Tse”), is
an employee of the Company. He was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 26 March 2015. He
reports to the acting Chairman and is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters. The
biographical details of Mr. Tse are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management”.

During the Year, Mr. Tse has undertaken not less than 15

hours of relevant professional training in accordance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the Year, there was no change to the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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RIE HERELSRS

This is the ninth consecutive Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) report of the Company, providing
detailed information about its performance and
management approach toward the relevant issues. All
topics that can possibly have significant impact on the
society and the environment are covered.

This ESG report complies with the ESG Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Reporting principles
of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency
stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide have been followed
in preparation of this report.

This report covers management approach and quantitative
performance in respect of material ESG topics for the year
from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 of the entire
Group. Annual report of the Company provides some
additional information about our sustainability
performance, besides the financial information and data.

Principal business activities of group companies are
trading, development and sale of display and optics
products and related electronic components, as well as
trading of health-related and other products.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
assumes the ultimate responsibility of integrating material
ESG issues with its business operations. The ESG
working group has been set up for taking stock of
progress towards sustainability every quarter and reporting
to the Board, which takes final decisions about ongoing
work as well as future plans.
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ESG-related risks are regularly identified to develop
appropriate strategies and prioritise them based on the
likelihood of happening and potential consequences. The
Board conducts quarterly reviews of these risks.
Additionally, an external consultant is also engaged to
assess the overall risk annually and provide
recommendations for remedial measures.

The Group establishes ESG performance targets that
consider both sustainability and financial requirements and
capabilities. The progress towards these targets is
presented to the Board on a quarterly basis. The Board
recognises its duty to uphold the credibility of this ESG
report and confirms that it has reviewed and approved
the report.

We remain committed to addressing sustainability
concerns comprehensively and have implemented an ESG
policy that encompasses operations, environmental
considerations and social aspects. This policy serves as
our guiding principles, allowing the Group to achieve
positive outcomes for its stakeholders, including
employees, suppliers, customers, and the community.
When making decisions about operations and strategies,
we actively take into account environmental and social
factors to enhance our ESG performance. The integration
of our ESG policy into the decision-making process
facilitates this improvement.
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Environment People
BB BT
e Conserve resources e Protect employee rights °
REEIR {RFE B THEF
e Raise employees’ ° Provide training opportunities

REEIIE S

environmental awareness

REEERRESD

e Create a safe and healthy

e Advocate green office
initiatives

RESERDE

working environment
TEZE2 RRENITIERE

e Support the community

e Adopt green procurement
practices

MITH B RIB

through donations
AR iR
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Operation
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Monitor suppliers’
sustainability performance

ERHEAMAFERR

Ensure the procurement
process and contractual
arrangement are transparent
and fair
BRRBEERENLZHE
EDSNST



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group acknowledges significance of the role
stakeholders play in attaining success and sustainability.
Among the Group’s stakeholders are shareholders and
investors, employees, customers, suppliers,
sub-contractors, government, and the community.
Effective communication channels are employed to
engage these stakeholders and comprehend their specific
concerns. The following outlines our stakeholder groups
and their respective engagement channels.

09 e
AN
e Annual general meeting
RERBFRE
e Corporate reporting
hERE

e Grievance channels
HiFRE
e Surveys

Gk

Cone

e Compliance with laws and
regulations
BFERRER

e Response to government
policies

ERBTBER

CHERER®RE
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ERRLEEBREE BT BEF #fEBLSE
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e Reporting channels
HEREB

e Meetings
i

e Training
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# [

° Regular meetings
qu =] uﬁt
e Supplier screening and
assessment
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e Donations
B®
e Community activities
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In 2023, we undertook a materiality assessment with the
assistance of an independent consultant, using an online
survey. As per management’s evaluation, we determined
that the results of this assessment are still applicable for
this reporting year. The assessment involved identification,
prioritisation, validation and review of various ESG topics.
The Board has thoroughly reviewed the identified topics
and affirmed their significance and relevance to the
Group, as well as their impact on the economy,
environment and the community. Actions taken and
progress made in respect of each material topic are
reviewed by the Board and incorporated into the Group’s
ESG management strategy.

Seven material topics were identified, as listed in
alphabetical order below:

1. Anti-corruption

2. Customer Satisfaction

3.  Customer Service

4, Diversity and Equal Opportunity
5. Employee Communication

6. Product Quality Management

7. Supplier Chain Management

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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A risk management plan has been put in place, based on

the identified potential ESG risks, to prevent risks from [ -

materialising. The Board, along with the concerned
responsibility for minimising the

departments, takes

impact. The risks identified by the Group and actions
taken are listed in the table below:

Material Topics
BEREE

Anti-corruption
R&ES

Customer Satisfaction

BEFREE

Customer Service

BEFER®

ESG-related Risks
%iﬁ M ?igﬁ E/:.*EEEHF‘%

Any breach of regulatory rules may
affect the business and reputation
of the Group
BEREERAARETZERAEENE
HREE

Lack of a culture of integrity in the
organisation may lead to potential
risk of bribery
RN Z BAE B XL AT e B BUE
X R R

Customer concern might not be well
received due to lack of a channel
and methodology

B P B REE A] BE A Rk R 8
i 7R B 3% W

SR

Service level might not be well
monitored, resulting in a complaint
being handled without a proper
mechanism
RIBIBEFTREARERENEE B
FEREAERS T EIBREF

BAMEREBEZNENELERSE LB RERE
ERARERTE U ERAREE B
SERMEBESFAIRRBRTEAEEE - A5
BEFER R ERERNITEEIN TX:

Action Taken

Fi SR EX H9 1T B

Have an effective Anti-Fraud
Management System in place
EERARNRRFERERS
The Code of Conduct must be
signed by all employees
PRETIMAEFZERTEL
Provide whistle-blowing channels
RHEBHRERES

Ensure awareness-raising initiatives
are organised on integrity and
anti-corruption
BRREHAERRESH ERS B &
7 ¥5 B

Provide numerous customer
communication channels
REZERTPBERES

Provide guidelines to employees on
customer information handling
MEIREEAEFPERNEEMNIE
5l

Adopt a grievance resolution
mechanism

£ FA R AR R

Offer technical support in response
to customer feedback

REHERMXEABERF RE&
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B HERE

Material Topics

EXRE

Diversity and Equal
Opportunity
ZRtRTEHKS

Employee
Communication

BETER

B W&

ESG-related Risks
BRE HEREAREERR

Lack of diversity in the workforce
limits the Group’s ability to attract
and retain top talent, hinders
innovation and results in a narrow
perspective in the decision-making
process

BETEERZ ZTRH T AEER
S| RIRBIESR AL EIEE S - PEEE
BIER - WEBUREK BIR B R EFHE

Insufficient communication may lead
to misunderstandings and a lack of
clarity regarding the Group’s ESG
goals, initiatives, and performance
BREIEARELERRE  SAKHE
MIRE HERERER 2ER
48 2T 7 B BA B
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Action Taken

Fit SR EX B9 1T B

e Prohibit any form of harassment and
discrimination in the Code of
Conduct
RSP 2E R A 2 E AR AR =X A B B AT
BRARIT A

e Provide reporting channels for
violations of the Code of Conduct
MERBRTEUNNTREHBERE
b

e QOrganise employee activities and
reward outstanding employees
BB TEE WEESFETL

e |mplement diversity and inclusion
initiatives to actively recruit and
retain individuals from diverse
backgrounds
Bt le R ERE  BER
ER#EBERETAERNHAL

e Regular engagement with
employees
THEETES

e Use various communication
channels, such as newsletters,
intranet platforms, and digital tools,
to ensure multiple touchpoints for
employee engagement
MAZEBERXREE  WMERK - A
WMEEREBITE BREBIH

% i % 1B



Material Topics

EXRE

Product Quality and
Safety
EREERRE

Supply Chain
Management

HEEEE

ESG-related Risks
BRE HEREAREERR

e | ack of channels for handling
customer grievances and insufficient
quality monitoring may result in low
customer satisfaction and even
product recalls
MZREXFPRFNEENREEH
RTRAREREPMEEER &

EREMmAM

e Certain suppliers of the Group may
not understand the ESG
requirements adequately and might
not be aware of the need to comply
with environmental regulations,
which may also lead to reputation
loss
AEBETHREARBRNG THRIR
BoHEREBORE mMAELS—
EHNBFEZBTONRELRL SR
ARRENBEXE

e The assessment of suppliers may be
insufficient which may result in
business malpractices
HHEFONTEATEIR  HEH
HETRTE

(s}

Action Taken

Fit SR EX B9 1T B

e Receive customer feedback on
product quality
WEEFPFRERBEENREER

e Apply quality assurance and control
procedures
EREEREREHIREF

e Obtain certifications on product
quality
NEREEMGEES

e Ensure the customer engagement
channel is clear and regular
engagement is conducted
R P BB R E)FM I E BT
i

e Having regular meetings with
suppliers to monitor the updates on
product safety compliance
THEHEERRITEE UNERE
mEZEERNEMBEN

e Follow supplier selection and
evaluation standards diligently
IR 238 <7 i e 7 b 0 T (AR 2

e Sign agreements with suppliers of
goods and other inputs
HERkEMRARNHEERRS
IE

e Prefer suppliers with higher
environmental performance, and
ensure all major suppliers have an
environmental management system
and quantify their greenhouse gas
emissions and have the reported
certificates
BEEERRERERENHER
VHRMAETIEHEBRORARE
EREAGREMRERBYR I
RAERETEZE

e Ongoing assessment of suppliers to
be organised to mitigate the risks
HETERENHEFETHEN
fily - AR R B B2

e Use eco-friendly raw materials

B MIRR R B
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BE HERERRSE

OUR OPERATION

Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to maintain long-term and stable
relationships with its suppliers to ensure quality and
reliability of the products. During the year, the Group
worked with 80 suppliers, of which 26 are located in
Hong Kong, 36 in Mainland China and 18 in other
regions.

RANEE
frEge e

AEEFNAHERESRARETHORE
NERERBERASE - FR - A& HHES0E
HEEAF Hh26E R EE - 36K+
B K P R ASME AL I E it [ o

Supplier Distribution
HEERE D

32.5%

22.5% 45%

We have established comprehensive guidelines for
supplier selection and evaluation, with a focus on not only
price, quality, service, and reputation but also social and
environmental management practices. Through the
reporting year, a majority of our key suppliers have
obtained I1ISO 14001 Environmental Management System
certification and demonstrated robust ESG management
systems. We actively encourage our suppliers to
effectively address areas such as product responsibility,
human rights, and environmental protection. We prioritise
suppliers who use environmentally friendly products and
services.

'q"l’“

| ang Kong

7

W Mainland China
B K RE

Other regions

Hibl =

B KERFGHERNE T 2EAER
ZEEUATEIEER HE RELRBE
NEIHERRENERED RARSF
B #MAARZHEOTEHER Y RFISO
14001RBEEERARE AR T TRE2MHR
B oHehBREERG RMABESBHEE
BRBEABHEEREE ABRMRRRES
Y [ R o 3 PIB ST R B A IRRE M MRS
BB -

Supplier Management

HEEEE
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The Group consistently improves its ESG performance by
integrating environmental considerations in decisions made
in the entire supply chain. We prioritise green
procurement practices and give preference to suppliers
with stronger environmental performance.

A majority of our key suppliers hold certifications under
ISO 14001 Environmental Management System and ISO
14064 Greenhouse Gas Accounting and Verification. We
actively seek suppliers who offer environmentally friendly
products or services. For instance, sourcing of personal
hygiene and disinfectant products aligns with the
Recommended Green Specifications published by the
Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong.

The Group is committed to delivering high-quality
products to its customers. We strictly adhere to quality
assurance and control procedures to ensure that desired
and stipulated quality standards are maintained. In case of
any non-conformity, we work directly with the original
manufacturer to replace the product promptly.

For “K-clean,” a personal hygiene and disinfectant
product, we have obtained various certifications that attest
to its quality. These certifications include antibacterial
tests, chemical safety evaluations, and assessments of its
disinfection effectiveness. This demonstrates our
dedication to providing safe and effective products to our
customers.

Our focus on quality management ensures that our
products are safe, effective and compliant with industry
standards. During the year, there were no product recalls
for safety and health reasons. We did not receive any
material products and service-related complaints.

BE HERERRSE
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The Group is dedicated to meeting customer expectations
and ensuring their satisfaction. We offer multiple channels
of communication, such as Facebook, Email, WhatsApp,
and a hotline, to provide convenient ways for customers
to reach out to us.

We prioritise understanding the needs and demands of
our customers to continuously enhance product quality
and provide the necessary technical support and
resources. By actively listening to customer feedback, we
strive to identify areas for improvement and make the
necessary adjustments to meet their expectations
effectively. Our goal is to deliver products and services
that align with customer requirements and provide a
seamless experience throughout their engagement with
us.

Customers can also communicate their opinions on quality
of products and services or any related issues through a
grievance resolution mechanism. Specific departments and
managers record and deal with customer concerns in a
timely manner by taking the necessary follow-up actions.
Sales and marketing team works with the technical team
to provide support to customers. If there is a potential
safety issue, quality concern, or an instance of
non-compliance with regulations, we will start a recall
process. This involves a comprehensive investigation to
evaluate the seriousness of the issue, communicating with
the relevant stakeholders, and promptly retrieving any
affected products from the market.

We prioritise the confidentiality of customer information
and have established guidelines for employees to follow.
To prevent unauthorised access, customer information is
stored securely on our company server, and responsible
personnel are entrusted with task of maintaining its
confidentiality and preventing unauthorised use, loss,
damage, or corruption.
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We are committed to complying with all relevant laws and
regulations concerning personal data and privacy*. By
obtaining trademarks for our products, we safeguard our
intellectual property rights. This proactive measure helps
prevent counterfeiting and fraud, ensuring the integrity
and authenticity of our offerings.

During the year, the Group complied with all relevant laws
and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters concerning products and
services sold and provided to customers.

The Group upholds integrity and honesty as its
fundamental values. We have a strict zero-tolerance policy
towards unethical business practices, including corruption,
bribery, fraud, blackmail and money laundering. To ensure
ethical conduct in all our business units, we have
implemented various anti-corruption measures.

One of these measures is the Anti-Fraud Management
System, which aligns with applicable laws and regulations.
This system helps us proactively address and mitigate
fraud risks within our organisation. We also have
Anti-bribery Guidelines in place to provide clear
instructions for our employees to follow. It is crucial for all
employees to thoroughly understand these guidelines and
diligently avoid any involvement in corruption-related
activities. Additionally, we have implemented educational
measures to promote a culture of integrity, including
providing anti-corruption related literature to our
employees, issuing an employee handbook containing
anti-corruption related requirements for new employees,
and reminding employees from time to time in our daily
business activities to raise their awareness. These
measures work in conjunction with our robust internal
control systems to prevent misconduct. The audit
committee of the Company provides guidance and
oversight for our anti-fraud efforts, while the Anti-Fraud
Department coordinates anti-fraud initiatives across the
Group.

* List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”
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Management
BEE

— Establish and implement anti-fraud
programmes and controls such as
fraud risk assessment and prevention

Audit Committee
ENZELZEE

Anti-Fraud Department

R NGEE R FE 8 Rl fE it
PASERRJE B v Ak S BB

— Conduct self-assessment on
anti-corruption

#EITRES AT

RS

Business Units
E3 v

Anti-Fraud Governance Structure

RERELRRE

During the year, we were not aware of any breach of
laws and regulations® that could have had a significant
impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. There were no concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices.

Code of Conduct

A comprehensive Code of Conduct is in place. It provides
clear guidelines to ensure all employees are able to
understand what constitutes ethical behaviour and to act
with honesty and integrity. The following table lists some
major unethical behaviours that are viewed as corrupt and
should be avoided at all times.

List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”
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Failure to declare any conflict
of interest to the Group for
approval

N (A 7S &= B BR 3 A ] A &
B R ARG L

Employee or their family
members engage in business
relationships that are
competitive to the Group
BIHEREKBERFER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HERERRSE

Accept gifts of large
economic value, in the form
of services or discounts
ARRFsSkiT M EWNAES
RAKEBEEENEM

Deliberately accepting gifts
that put the Group in an
embarrassing situation
HMEEMEm RAEERE
A& R 3%

Damage the goodwill of our
competitors through
fabricating and disseminating
false information
mERBEERES  BE
REHFNEE

Infringe competitors’ trade or
commercial secrets with
ilegal means

UIEEFBRRLHEFETH

SEEBRFHNEBKBE

e Failure to report the
acceptance of a gift to
supervisors for approval
A A [A - &) B R A AS mm A

St

Whistle-blowing

We have established multiple communication channels to
enable employees to report any instances of misconduct
or corrupt business practices. Whistle-blowers can use an
anonymous email box to submit information securely and
confidentially. All reported cases are subject to thorough
investigation, with a strong emphasis on protecting the
confidentiality of the whistle-blower.

In cases where misconduct is substantiated, disciplinary
actions are promptly taken, including immediate
termination of employment. If necessary, we also refer
cases involving breaches of the Code of Conduct to law
enforcement authorities for further action. Our
commitment to maintaining the highest ethical standards
is unwavering, and we take decisive measures to ensure
a transparent and accountable work environment.
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R -HERERES

OUR PEOPLE

Employee Composition

The Group is committed to safeguarding the rights of its
employees and fostering an inclusive and supportive work
environment that promotes their well-being. As of
the Group had a total
employees. All our employees are full-time staff.

31 December 2024,

By Gender By Age
R
EERIE 5 RERED
5.7% -
43.4% 37.7%
56.6%
B Male Il Under 31 years old
St BT
W Female W Between 31 and 50
it 31E50%
Over 50 years old
505%0A £

During the year, the overall employee turnover rate was
Distribution of employee turnover is presented in

28.3%.
the graphs below:

of 53

58.5%

56.6%
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By Geographical Location By Employment Type
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Employee Turnover Rate by Gender

Employee Turnover Rate by Age

Employee Turnover Rate by Geographical Region
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The Group remains committed to equal treatment to all
employees, irrespective of age, gender, family status,
sexual orientation, ethnicity, creed, or religion. We
prioritise fostering an inclusive and diverse working
environment that values and respects every individual.

We have a zero-tolerance policy towards harassment or
discrimination in any form. We encourage employees to
promptly report any violations of the Code of Conduct to
the designated officer through established reporting
channels. Reported cases are thoroughly and fairly
examined, and appropriate disciplinary actions are taken
against those responsible for any breaches.

Our Personnel Management System encompasses
comprehensive policies that cover various aspects, such
as recruitment, promotion, compensation, working hours,
rest periods, dismissal, benefits, and welfare measures.
We strictly adhere to the prevailing laws and regulations
governing these areas, ensuring compliance and fairness
in all our personnel management practices.

We understand the importance of recognising and
appreciating contributions of our employees as a means
of retaining talent. To support this, we offer competitive
remuneration packages and comprehensive welfare
benefits, encompassing statutory benefits, caring benefits,
and incentives. Remuneration packages are reviewed
once a year to ensure we meet or exceed the prevailing
market standards.

Statutory benefits

Caring benefits

AEBRBRBENRATFHEGFHAEEL - T
Fhe R REMR - A - Bk E0%
FH -BMABEEBRRZ TN THERRE
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Incentive benefits

EERA BIEREA 52 B 18 A
e Social insurance e Medical benefits e Year-end bonus
trERR BEREN FRES
e Provident fund e Holiday benefits e Share option scheme
Nk UNCEER BB AR BT 2l
e Housing reserve fund e Vaccination holidays
TER#EES EHERR
e Maternity leave e Qutstanding employee award
ER LIRS 8%
e Statutory holidays e Team building activities
= E R & X 35 3 E B
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The Group remains vigilant against child and forced
labour, actively collaborating with suppliers and
processing services providers to ensure that no instances
of such labour are present in their business operation.
Violations of our policies in this regard can lead to
termination of business relationships.

During the year, the Group was not aware of any instance
of non-compliance with laws and regulations having a
significant impact on the Group relating to employment
and labour practices. No incidents relating to use of child
or forced labour were found.

Adequate and the right type of training to employees is
crucial not only for advancement of individual careers but
also for the Group’s performance. The Group provides
appropriate training to its employees to equip them with
the required knowledge and skills. Our internal training
initiatives are designed to enhance technical
understanding of our products and improve sales
performance. By investing in these training programs, we
aim to empower our employees with tools and expertise
needed to excel in their roles and contribute to the
success of the Group.

A total of 915 hours of training were provided to
employees during the year. About 97% of male employees
and 96% of female employees received training and all of
management staff and about 95% of general staff were
recipients of training this year. During the year, average
training hours per year for male and female employees
were 22 hours and 11 hours respectively, and the
average training hours per year for management and
general employees were 30 hours and 12 hours
respectively. A well-established system is in place to
decide promotions and provide a clear career
development path to help employees grow along with the
Group.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Due to the nature of our business, occupational hazards
are minimal. However, we remain committed to providing
a safe and healthy working environment for all employees.
We regularly communicate health and safety information
to keep employees informed about potential hazards.

In line with our ESG policy, we have implemented
appropriate safety measures in both office and warehouse
areas. These measures aim to mitigate any potential risks
and ensure the well-being of our employees. Our ongoing
efforts prioritise maintaining a secure and conducive
working environment for everyone.

During the year, there were no reports of any
work-related injuries and there have been no fatalities in
the past three years. The Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations* that could have had a significant impact on
the Group, relating to safety and protection of employees
from occupational hazards.

Keep the workplace clean

RETIEGMEFER

BETREEERTE

9L M@

Implement safety emergency plan

BE HERERRS

BEXRERZE

HREMANEEEE BEETHFEM-A
M- BANABOIRBABEEIRERE2RE
FOTHERR -RAEHMEHRRERLEZE
B -ZEIBRREBEENESE-

RERPORR L@ REBRR RFAEHR
RELRBERHCHKIBEENLZER %%
T ERETAEERR BREIHNRE
e HZMEEBEERMAAEE —ERE
BB THERE-

FRN BESEEANIERNBE=FHEK
BRTER AEEYBNBTANEBLER
REEEHCBRECETANREYAERENS
ARENERBBEIEEIREMH-

Provide training and assistance when needed

KB Z RIS R 78

Safety Measures

REER

* List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”
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In order to fulfil our commitment to community
engagement, we have partnered with the Heep Hong
Society to make meaningful contributions. During the year,
we actively participated in the Heep Hong Charity Sports
Fun Day and donated HK$60,000 to the ‘Children and
Youth Training Fund’. This fund supports timely
assessment and appropriate training for children and
youth with special needs. Moving forward, we remain
dedicated to fulfilling our social responsibility and actively
seek opportunities to make a positive impact on the
community.

The Group recognises the profound impact of climate
change, both on its own business operations and on a
global scale. In response to the escalating threats posed
by climate change, we refer to the guidelines set forth by
the International Financial Reporting Standards S2 on
Climate-related disclosure. This involves identifying and
assessing climate-related risks and opportunities in order
to effectively navigate this evolving landscape.

Climate-related Risks

R 15 46 B3 L B
Physical Risks  Acute
BEREAR =
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Potential Financial Impacts

BEMBY

¢ Increased severity of extreme weather e Reduced revenue and higher costs from negative impacts

events such as cyclones and floods
R EENEHRRREHMREN

on workforce

HEHNANAEFEETRAR D RKA LT

el e Reduced revenue from lower sales

#HE TR E B AR D

Chronic

=

¢ Rising mean temperatures
PR L

e Rising sea levels

B LT

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024



BE HERERRSE

Climate-related Risks Potential Financial Impacts
R 1 A8 B [ By BENBRE

Transition Risks Policy and Legal

BE R R BRREE
* Increased pricing of greenhouse e Increased compliance related costs
gases (“GHG”) emissions A 4848 B AR A< 5 0

REREB(DRERBDHREE LT
e Enhanced obligations on climate-

related disclosure

RIR BB 6 K T & 18 A0

Technology

R

e Failure in new technology investment e Costs to adopt new practices and processes
HRATRE K RAMNEEMEF AR

e Costs to transition to lower emissions e Additional costs of technology development investment
technology RimAERENEINE R

3BR 2K B U B SR

Market

L

e Increased cost of raw materials e Reduced demand for products and services due to shift in
JR# B AR 38 b0 consumer preferences

e Customer behaviour changing HREEERINBEMERERMRBEFT K TR
EEITRNE

Reputation

BE

e Shifts in consumer preferences e Reduced revenue from decreased demand for products
HEESHES Em®H K TRERKRA TR

¢ Increased stakeholder concern
FhEBREAY
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Climate-related Opportunities

BRSR R MR B Y 5B

Opportunities Energy Source
3] BEJR
e Use of new technologies
18 A 37 R i
e Use of lower-emission sources of
energy

&£ PR HE e IR

Products and Services
EmkR®E
e Shift in consumer preferences

MEEE TN

o Ability to diversify business activities

EXBERDZ TGN

Potential Financial Impacts

BEMBTE

e Reduced exposure to GHG emissions and therefore less
sensitivity to changes in cost of carbon

BABEREHR KMEEARAAEHOHEE

e Increased revenue through demand for environment-related
products and services
FRYRFEBERNRBHFRIZMBEA

In our efforts to tackle climate-related risks, we have AR EFEHEBENRR KMESE—EE
established a comprehensive climate change policy that A RIRE LB K - E A Bl 7 P9 48 7T g2 Rk 1K
outlines our commitments to minimise the impact of our & BEBHIREN T ER A o

business operations on the environment.

Mitigation
R

Adopt energy saving, waste reduction and
resource saving measures

RERERRE « BB BRI

Reduce GHG emissions by developing
environmental targets

1 IR B IRAR R ERAEHER

Incorporate climate change considerations
into the procurement process

HRIREEZSMARBET

Adaptation
i fE
Assess climate-related risks and

opportunities
FHEsRIRAA R K E

Include climate-related issues into the
risk management process and business
continuity plans

SR IEEREEE S ARG EERT &
EEHEERE

Climate Change Policy
RIRBILBER
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We have set specific targets in different areas for
reducing the environmental impacts of our business which
we review on a regular basis.

Environmental Targets
RIZEEE

BE HERERRSE

BZMERBEEEHHRENZEETRAT AR
TABER HMEeCHREZFARE -

Status

e Replace all vehicles with electric cars by 2030
=R R A A ERERREHE

e Achieve overall waste reduction
EREBRRE

e Achieve overall rise in paper recycling rate
EREEHARBKE LA

e Procure office equipment with higher grades of
energy efficiency labels by 2025

Under progress
EITH
Under progress
HEITH
Under progress
TR
Under progress

#EITH

TECRAFRZARBRISILERASERRN M ARE

Energy Consumption

Electricity and gasoline are the main types of energy we
consume. Office premises consumed 117,191 kWh of
electricity, and vehicles consumed 14,400 litres of
gasoline in 2024, which means a total energy
consumption of 884,359 MJ and an intensity of 267 MJ
per m?. Compared to the previous year, our energy
consumption decreased by 13.9% in 2024, primarily due
to starting the use of electric vehicle to replace traditional
fuel-powered vehicle.

BE IR H FE

BEORAHBRMAEENEZRFEN - —=F
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REHFE T14,4002FH 5 M - BEEREFEE B
884,350 B EREE AT T T R267TKEE -
BM-_ZE-_NFNERERE EFRD
13.9% ' TZHRFERFEAESHERESHM
SHE o

Energy Consumption and Intensity
BERHEREBE
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RIE -HERERES

GHG Emissions

Our operations cause only indirect carbon emissions,
mainly from electricity consumed in office premises and
warehouses. However, the rise in frequency of extreme
weather events triggered by climate change is increasing
and that could pose safety risks to our employees,
delaying ongoing projects. We follow the Code of Practice
in Times of Typhoons and Rainstorms issued by the
Labour Department and consider climate-related issues
when formulating our business plans.

In 2024, the total GHG emissions amounted to
approximately 93 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(“tCO,e"), of which 38 tCO,e were direct emissions
(Scope 1), attributed to gasoline consumed by our
vehicles. The remaining 55 tCO,e of indirect carbon
emissions (Scope ) were on account of purchased
electricity. The emission intensity was 0.03 tCO,e per m?.

BEREHK

BPNEERELERERER  TEREMD
SRk REERENES - AN - RIRE(L 3|
mﬂmiﬁ$ﬁtﬁtﬁﬁ AEEH B TRK
ZeRER SETPHRBEH - BHMAEHNE
%%ﬁ%%&#%lﬁ%%ﬁ@&%ﬁ%%?
THESTAD AZRRIRBEZERE -

—ENF - BEREEMAE AL —F
tixEE((M-_S{kEE])  HP38H =K
tixEEAEEEN(EE—)  FEREMOL

REHENTH - 8 550 — b sE &AM
BB (BE =) WERFEESE -
HREATF T KO.OIME —_EEE -

GHG Emission and Intensity
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Air Emissions and Waste

The Group’s gasoline consumption (private vehicles)
generates approximately 0.2 kg sulphur oxides (“SO,”),
8.3 kg nitrogen oxides (“NO,”) and 0.6 kg particulate
matters (“PM”).

We are a predominantly office-based business and the
only waste we generate is wastepaper. During the year, a
total of 651 kg of waste paper were generated. The
waste intensity was 0.20 kg per m?. Our operations do
not generate hazardous waste.

BE HERERRSE

ERFHRERY

ARETHHERE(RRE)ELEQO2ATREA
ey ((maty]) s3nFaAA YW ([RAIL
Y1) 0.6 fr 8B ok ([BOZ kL) -

BHEEURREEZGRE B ELENER
YMRARK - FR - HLBERTEIRTHREK - BEE
MERER/ETHKO20RT - BHFNEETE
TEEERED-

Air Emissions

BERBFRE
12
10
8
ok
-
W~
4
2
0 )
2023 2024
—FE-=4 Tl
B SOx W NOx PM
ey REIY SRR IR
Resources Management EREE
The Group has accelerated efforts for reducing AKEBEEMANE BIEEEHRBENTZE -

environmental impacts of its operations. Our
well-articulated ESG policy helps ensure compliance with
environmental rules and regulations and promote resource
conservation.

HAABARE & RERREADERAT
ERERNERO REEERRKRE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE-HEBRERRSE

Water 7k

Water consumed in our offices is tap water. In 2024, the FHFIMAZHENKBBEHRK - ZF /£ -
total water consumption was 360 tonnes, with water Fi7/K# 8 A360M @ /K% E &7 F H K0.500F -
intensity of 0.50 tonnes per m2. There was no issue in 7&K EVE /K& JR 77 M I 4 [ 28 o

sourcing water fit for the purpose.

Water Consumption and Intensity

RAKEREE -
0.49 .
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- 04 __
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5 Sﬁ ' = Bt

S g

= \% 200 \;g

EE 150 342 02 2E

2 5 &
= ®

8 100 0.1 €

50
0 0
2023 2024
—Eo=F —E_OE
N \Vater consumption = \/\/ater intensity
FXxE KERE
Packaging Materials BEH

In 2024, approximately 9 tonnes of paper was used as M -ZT - IF - LOMEKRABEREMF &K=
packaging materials, representing a 10% decrease from T = ZFFHP10% ° 2R P EZ AR AL B 2
2023. The reduction was primarily due to the decrease in FEABBE LI E BT & o

sales of the Group’s health-related products.

Implementing Green Office ERZORAE

\Q =P o'
‘23 REL 2 [B
The Group has pursued green office initiatives since AEBEB T —+FEDHETHEH A EE

2017, in order to build an environment-friendly culture in % > A EMAGA R L EHBERNE T RE XL °
its organisation and operations.
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BE HERERRSE

To raise employees’ awareness on resource conservation, AIEESETWERRESH  HRMH L RKE
we distribute and paste stickers and posters about green BRI @ MUER B R R ER - L PITIRENFZ
practices. We also adopt numerous resource conservation B4 E R R ENAI L RAVTE i - B BB ©

and energy-saving measures, listed below.

Energy Paper
BETR KR
e Switch off equipment when not in use ® Use electronic storage medium to

BARA L SE(E A R YRR B
* Purchase office equipment with high
grades of efficiency labels
BEERYEEHEAF SR RE
e Clean air conditioners periodically

EHBEZZER

reduce printing

FAEFIA  FAFI

Assign a designated area for paper recycling
F5 T EPT A0 EE AR B i 15

Collection tray for waste copy paper used
on one side so it is available for printing on

the other side
EITENE R B EUA - KB 5|E—m|

BIAR R AfE BT E)
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Plastic
BEEBRREFRE B
* Adopt multi-function devices, such as e Use reusable tableware to avoid disposable
printing, scanning, fax photocopy Utensils
KR ZIhaekdE - DIRAFTED - 1518 P .
SIRZIRERI  PPTE A R T A+ i
g - e t
BEEREA
Water Miscellaneous
7 E 3]

e Design publications with fewer varmnishes
and coatings
Rt H BRSO ERZ M T

e Use web-conferencing to minimise
business trips
ERBEEE RS BEBIRT

® Reuse stationery
BAXA

e Periodically check taps to prevent leakage
TE Bt B K BESE - MERIRBIRK

During the vyear, the Group was not aware of any 4R &K£&E Ii’[ﬂz%ﬂfﬁfiﬂﬁﬁafﬁ&ﬁ:ﬁéﬁ
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations* B2HEMR - MK M T s RELBEMES
that could have had a significant impact on the Group, ZEYWBAIGEHAEEEXRE AT ERNELER"
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges = f{f °

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and

non-hazardous waste.

* List of applicable laws and regulations available in “Laws and Regulations”

HRRRRERINKRER AR RIER]
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BE HERERRSE

The Group has established and implemented internal
policies in all departments to ensure adequate action in
respect of each ESG aspect and compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. The list of major
applicable laws and regulations is as follows:

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations
EE BREBRER

Product Responsibility o Trade Descriptions Ordinance
EmEHR C78 i 25t B R )

e Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(AAER (GLE) 1)

AEBCEMBBMARIEERABBER @ #
REZERE HERERTH HEHRR
THRBTREEREZRERER - BRNER
ERFGERINERMT

Section/Remarks

Lk

OUR OPERATION
AANEE

e Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARENBEEREEE)
e The Civil Code
(PEAREMBERER)

e The PRC Customer Rights and Interests Protection Law

(FEARANBHBE R IREL)

e Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARLNBEESE)

o Measures for the Administration of Internet Advertising

(EBBRSEERE)

e Anti-monopoly Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARAMBEREEH L)

e Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARANBBRL2E)

e Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARANBEELZ 2E)

e Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARANBEEARGSREL)

Anti-corruption e Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
R&S € 1 B B8 6 )
e Competition Ordinance
(5

OUR OPERATION
AANEE

e Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FZEARANBERTEERFE)

e Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China

(hEARAMBERLEHE)

e Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China

(hEARLMBEME)

e The Company Law of the People’s Republic of China

(REARXME R RE)
e The Anti-Corruption Act of Taiwan
REN(ERRFERAD

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024



Aspect
fEH

Employment

ER

Occupational Health and
Safety
BEEERZ2

B

Applicable Laws and Regulations

BRERRER

Employment Ordinance

(R &G

Minimum Wage Ordinance

(REIEEH)

Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARXNELEZE)

Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKMBELE S FZE)

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the People’s
Republic of China

REARANENEILCRETIRE)

The Regulation on the Administration of Housing Accumulation
(EEAESEREEH)

The Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKMBEL EREZE)

The Labour Standards Act of Taiwan

REN(HEBEEE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors
(REARXMBRKF AREL)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Safeguarding the Rights and
Interests of Women

(PEARLME G LERREZE)

Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female Employees
(ZRISHREFHRT)

Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees
(BISHFRRED)

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
el AE a2 R

Sex Discrimination Ordinance

CHE RIS AR 16 )

Disability Discrimination Ordinance

(BRI AR & B

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance

(R B A3 R IEH)

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance

(Bxz 2 REREN)

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

(& B R & 0I)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases

(hEAREMBEBZRRZE)

The Occupational Safety and Health Act of Taiwan
AEN(RERZHEER)

HERERERS

Section/Remarks

BE W

OUR PEOPLE
HZMEWET

OUR PEOPLE
HZMWET

BEXEHERAT 2024 F3R
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BE HERERRSE

Aspect Applicable Laws and Regulations
fEE BREERER

Environmental Management e
RRER

Air Pollution Control Ordinance

(ERAREH )

Water Pollution Control Ordinance

Ok 28 1)

Ozone Layer Protection Ordinance

(RELLERD)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution caused by Solid Wastes
(REARANBEEBENTEREN QL)

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China

(REARXMBE AR SRR RE)

Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(hEAREMEKZERRE

The Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(REARKMBEREREE)

The Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environment Impact
Assessment

(FEARENBRZZETES)

Measures for Ecological and Environmental Administrative Punishments
(ERRBITRETIE)

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

Section/Remarks
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OUR ENVIRONMENT
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Health

Workforce
BT

Training
3

and
Safety

BER

Community
HE

%

Total Headcount

By Geographical Distribution
Hong Kong
Mainland China
Taiwan

By Age
<31
31-50
>50

By Gender
Male
Female

By Employment Type
Managerial staff
General staff

Employee Turnover Rate

By Age
<31
31-50
>50

By Gender
Male
Female

By Geographical Region
Hong Kong
Mainland China
Taiwan

Percentage of Employees Trained

By Gender
Male
Female
By Employment Type
Managerial staff
General staff
Average Training Hours
By Gender
Male
Female
By Employment Type
Managerial staff
General staff

Work-related incident (case)

Lost days due to work-related injury

Work-related fatalities

Donations (HK$)

R -HERERES

2024
—E_NE
EIAY 53
T & E 5
BA 31
N 16
a 6
BFRE S
<31 &
31-50 30
>50 20
EIERIE S
2 30
g 23
EEBERE S
EEAE 16
THEET 37
BIRAE 28.3%
BERE S
<31 66.7%
31-50 43.3%
>50 0%
B RIE S
B 40.0%
it 13.0%
BREE S
BB 3.2%
B A B 56.3%
= 83.3%
ZIEEE 96%
EIERIE S
2 97%
g3 96%
EEBERE S
EEAB 100%
TRHET 95%
T3 3B H 17
ZIERIE 5
R 22
e 11
BEBERE S
EEAB 30
TEET 12
IEHEHBEATRE 0
TIEBAXIERE 0
TEHEBRET AH 0
BR0ET) 60,000
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25

18
49
14.9%

42.9%
15.8%
4.5%

19.0%
8.0%

15.2%
4.0%
44.4%

96%

93%
100%

100%
94%
19

25
10

31
14
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BE HERERRSE

*

Total Resources Consumption (MJ)

BRHEEME (KRE)

Electricity (kWh) EN(TRE)
Gasoline (litres) R (AF)
Tap water (tonnes) B 3Rk (W)
Energy intensity (MJ/m®) BeRE
Jbﬁﬂ/iﬁJr
Water intensity (tonnes/m?) KEE (M35 K
Packaging materials @%Mﬂ
Paper (tonnes) 28 (W8)
Air Emissions BER B
Sulphur oxides (SO)) (kg) ety (2mr)
N Nitrogen oxides (NO,) (kg) agftm(ar)
S Particulate matters (PM) (kg) B2 (D)
£ m Waste @ﬁ%
= Paper waste (kg) BREZED(DT)
5 Paper waste intensity (kg/m?) BMREENTE
(R /M AXK)
Greenhouse Gases Emissions and BEREENEREBE"
Intensity*
Total GHG emissions (tCO,€) RERBHERAE
(=g tHKEE)
Scope 1 (tCO,e) EE—
(@ﬁ:%ftﬁﬁ%%)
Scope 2 (tCO,¢) #E—
(B-—EtRES)
GHG emission intensity (tCO,e/m?) BERBHENEE
(B-EREE/
S K)
Notes: * B 5

Calculation methods used for carbon emissions:

Carbon emissions are calculated using “Greenhouse Gas
Protocol” published by the World Resources Institute and
World Business Council on Sustainable Development

The sources of published emission factors for the reporting
of carbon emissions are:

(@)

(o)

2023 Sustainability Report of CLP

“Guidelines to Account for and Report on
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for
Buildings (Commercial, Residential or Institutional
Purposes) in Hong Kong” published by the
Environmental Protection Department

“Notice on Doing a Good Job in 2023-2025
Reporting and Management of Greenhouse Gas
Emissions of Power Generation Enterprises”
published by the Ministry of Ecology and
Environment of the People’s Republic of China ({#

P 8F2023-20255F 3 B 17 ¥ b ¥R = R 8B 5 R
i””ii*ﬁ%ﬁlf’&ﬂﬁ D)
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2024 2023
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884,359 1,027,390
117,191 110,644
14,400 19,587
360 342

267 268

0.50 0.49

9 10

0.2 0.3

8.3 9.7

0.6 0.7

651 482

0.20 0.13

93 107
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0.03 0.03
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KPIs Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BEENER BXABE HERERRERESIER BB
Governance Structure

ERER

Mandatory A statement from the board containing the following elements: Board Statement
Disclosure EZ22HHFTIAS: Exe2f
BEHBE () a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

REESQHRE HERERFENEE:

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, prioritise
and manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and
ESeNRE HERERERHARER  AEFE BEAHIREREZNRE HERER
HESE(BEHBTAEBNRR) NBRE R

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of
how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

EZEMABRRE HEREANHESRIER IRBOALAETARBERE

Reporting Principles

RERA

Mandatory A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting Principles in the Reporting Guide
Disclosure preparation of the ESG report: H &3l
BHRE HAIBREERHERE HQRENRERFEANUTRERE:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the criteria for the selection
of material ESG factors; (i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a description of
significant stakeholders identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder
engagement.

B2t RBE HERERREERE  (BAEERE HEREARZNARREEELRE
ZHER ((NBTABRTHHELE BRAFNNERSHENRERETARNE
BENBERER -

Quantitative:  Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools used,
and source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Elt: EBERERE SRFER(MBER)FMANEE 7% BRR/AFHEIANEH
DA {58 B 40 8% 48 R 3% ) SRR B T 0 5B -

Consistency: ~ The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the methods or KPIs used,
or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

—Hit: BOARERE HERERRETRESG D EABRENERNET (WE)HE
MEMPEREZLBRNBERAE -

Reporting Boundary

REHE

Mandatory A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing the process used to Reporting Boundary and
Disclosure identify which entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the Period

BHEE issuer should explain the difference and reason for the change. REHERAR

BERE HERERRENEREE NEAKEPLERAEBHARE HEREARENE
B-DRABEE ROAEREEZERGENES

BEXxEARAA 2024 £ 67
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KPls
BRENER

A. Environmental
A RE

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BRXABRS HERERKEHECIER

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT: #BY

General Disclosure

—-REE

Information on:

BEBERAKARE
a) the policies; and
W& &

TR - MR T

B BEREEERNMELSH:

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
ETHETABEAZENERLRRAGINEH

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

KPI A1.1
BB E IR IEALA

KPI A1.2

BREBIEEAL2

KPI A1.3

BREMIEEALS

KPI A1.4

BRENERAL4

KPI A1 5
BRAREEAS

KPI A1.6

BREMIEEALE

The types of emissions and the respective emissions data.

HRCmEE AR R -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BEE(EE-)R &Eﬁ&(ﬁ S)REREBAYRE CAEFE) R (WER)H
EWASESEN  SHEREHE) -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
MELRERENEEUMHE) R(MER)BE (WABESEN BERNG
ite) .

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
i%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%@%( MEE) R (ER) %

EWABESEN  BERE

Description of emission target (

BRI LMERERRAE

) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BELE R SR

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HIRBRAEREEEENNT L RERFMTUNAEERRAEIELE
BRI TR -

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

Section/Remarks

B A

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMONRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
FEHREEL

— Resources
Management

AEREE

PERFORMANGE DATA
SUMMARY
HERARE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

FANRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
F&Vﬁf“m

PERFORMANGCE DATA

SUMMARY

HERERE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMONRE

— Resources
Management
BRER

PERFORMANGCE DATA

SUMMARY

BEBERRBE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMERE

— Resources
Management
BRER

PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY

HBERERE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMNRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
EHREZ

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMNRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
EHREZ

— Resources
Management

AEREE



BE HERERRSE

KPIs Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
HEENER BIFBS HBRERRERIER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2: EREA

General Disclosure Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.

—-REE BEHERER(BREER KREMERMH)OBE -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in

total (kWh in'000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREMESAT  RERHASMERER/IMEER(NE R0 EREUTATRETE)
LEE(WNBESEN  BEREHAE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BRpEIERA22 BRKEREE(WABEREN BEAMFE) -

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
BRERERAS  HAMITINERERARERRAENELARMRBRNSR -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BRERERA4  HEAKRERKRLTAEMNER  URATIHAKARERRAENEL
ERMARN SR -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,
) with reference to per unit produced.
MRERERNS HRGMALEMHNEE UHAE)R(WER)BEEENEE -

Section/Remarks

B/ A

OUR ENVIRONMENT
HFRRE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMNRE

— Resources
Management
BRER

PERFORMANGCE DATA

SUMMARY

BEBERRBE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMERE

— Resources
Management
BRER

PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY

HBERBRE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMONRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
FEHREEL

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMNRE

— Resources
Management
BRER

The Company considers
the Group’s domestic
water consumption is
purely for sanitisation
purpose, and our
employees will remain
cautious in identifying
water leaks and
wastage.
ARARBASENE
ERKEEERZRE
BIHE THRREEER
BE BAIRKRRE
RIKBER

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMMERE

— Resources
Management
BRER

PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY

HBRRERE
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KPIs Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
HEENER BRFBR HBRERRERIER

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
EHAS: RERRAARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuers’ significant impact on the environment and natural resources.

—-REE REZRTAURERRAAERERERY ENHE -

KPI' A3.1 Description of significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
) resources and the actions taken to manage them.
BRENERA  HEEBERHRARRAERNEAY ERERNERFRYENTY -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
BEAL: RIRE1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and

-REE those which may impact, the issuer.
BRIREHE AR e HETAELEYENERRBEBEENIE -
KPI Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and
) those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BRERERMI  HICERARSHBETAEEZENEARGRUSZE  REHTDH -
B. Social
Big

Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1: EfE

General Disclosure Information on:
-RER EREMREE BEREA IHERY BRA TIHE Zal REGAREGHEBREFN:
a) the policies; and
W& R
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
ETHETABEAZENERLRRAGINEH
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

KPI B1.1

B EAMEEBI

group and geographical region.

RIS BREAN (N2 RIFRE)  FRAGNRBEADNERBE -

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age

Section/Remarks

B A

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMOERE

— Implementing
Green Office;
ERZEHRAE:

OUR OPERATION

EMREE

— Green
Procurement

RERE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMERE

— Implementing
Green Office;
BERBZEHAE:

OUR OPERATION

R ilik=33

— Green
Procurement

RERE

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMNRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
FEYHREEL

OUR ENVIRONMENT

BMONRE

— Addressing Climate
Change
FEYHREEL

OUR PEOPLE

EMHMEL

— Employee Rights
and Welfare

B B BRI KA

OUR PEOPLE

HKPAMET

— Employee
Composition
BITAK

PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY

HBERERE



KPls
BEENER

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BRAEE HERERBERIER

KPI B1.2
B AREEB2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

B FRANRERESNEERKLE -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EmEB2: EEEZ2

General Disclosure

—-REE

Information on:
ERRUZ 2 IERERREEEHGBELEEN:
a) the policies; and
W& R
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

ATHETABBAYENHBEARRADINER -

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three
) years including the reporting year.

MRERERB BEZF(BREERFE)BFRITHNHABRLE-

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

BREENEER2 EIBGBXIFEA%-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they
) are implgmented and monitored. )

MRERERBL3  HAMKANBEREEAREHEE UREERTRERF &

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EmB3: #EREH

General Disclosure  Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of

—-REE

training activities.

BRRNMESRTIERENABRRENER - HABIED -

KPI B3.1

B E MRS

senior management, middle management).

REFIRESEN(NERERE TRERE)HASNRIESHAL -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (€.g.

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee
category. B
BRENEEB2 RUFIREEEGNES SHRESTHI M TIIRE -
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B R R
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KPls
BRENER

Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BRAEE HERERBEREIER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EEB4 : & TR

General Disclosure

—-REE

Information on:

BEEGILETIRBHETH

a) the policies; and

HE R

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
ETHETABEAZENEREERAGINEH -

relating to prevention of child and forced labour.

KPI B4.1

R E NIRRT

KPI B4.2
B AR 1EB4.2

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

EmBs : fHEEEE

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced
labour.
H R RO E R E T REHST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

HEERRERBERNERABBERARRO SR -

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
ERHEENRERMGERYE -

—-REE

KPI B5.1

B4 B U 12851

KPI B5.2

BB MR EB5.2

KPI B5.3
AR B MIERB5.3

KPI B5.4

B ENIEREBA

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BiwEENMHERRE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where
the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
ﬁgﬁ@%%ﬁ%%%@%’mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'M&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&
ERNE.

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are imp\gmented and monitored.
HAEABRREEGERONREREGRARNESN ARBERTRER
T e

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.
RAEREREARRESARRERRBREOEN  ARBBATRERS
* e
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Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BRAEE HERERBERIER

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EmB6: EmER

General Disclosure

—-REE

Information on:

FRMREERMBBNREEZE BS BRERLBREEARBRTEN

a) the policies; and

HE R

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
ETHETABEAZENEREERAGNEH -

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services

provided and methods of redress.

KPI B6.1
R EMIEEB6.1

KPI B6.2
BREMIEEB6.2

KPI B6.3
AR B IE1RB6.3

KPI B6.4
B A M6 15 B6.4

KPI B6.5
AR B MIE1RB6.5

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and
health reasons.
EEICREEMBHTRRZERFEAMARKNE AL

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are
dgalt with. )
ERBRERRRBENRFHANREHF % -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property
rights. )
R EEENRENRERFHANED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
B ERTEBEREMBWRER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R REERRERLBER D RABRTRER A

BXXEARALT 2024 F3]
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BRAEE HERERBEREIER

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7: RES

General Disclosure

—-REE

Information on:

FRMLEHE 9% REFERAREN:

a) the policies; and
BE R
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

ETHRTABEAZENHERZERROINER -

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

KPI B7.1

BRERIEEBTA
KPI B7.2
BRERIEERT2

KPI B7.3
BREMIEIERTS

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEBS: HERE

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the

issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

RERAABETAZHREERLYCEANESHARMINEE RFDLER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they are

implemented and monitored.

R EEERERET  URBERTRERRE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.
HlmEERE IRENREFE -

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

—-REE

BENEE2ERTE

KPI B8.1
B S A I 1RBS. 1

KPI B8.2
BREMIEEBS2

REEMENERENBRREXRBEADEERCENSAHE -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour
needs, health, culture, sportl. } \ ‘
EIEFEE(WHE RREEE SIFK BE XL BF)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIRREMHAER(WEBELER) -
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Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, aged 55, was appointed as director
of the Company on 13 June 2013. Mr. Cheng is a
founder of the Group. He has been in the business of
trading TFT-LCD components for over 20 years and has
established close relationships with various suppliers. He
graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
bachelor of science in combined sciences in mathematical
science degree. Pending the outcome of the legal
proceedings of the Petition, Mr. Cheng has been
suspended from his duties as an executive Director, the
chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer of the
Company and the director of Perfect Display Limited, a
major subsidiary of the Company, effective from
25 September 2020. He continues to serve the Company
as a consultant to bring in businesses and maintain the
relationship with business partners. He is also a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Save as
disclosed above, Mr. Cheng is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Liu Ka Wing, aged 52, was appointed as an executive
Director on 18 June 2013. He joined the Group in
November 2008. Mr. Liu has about 30 years of
experience in accounting. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked in various certified public accountants firm and
corporations, responsible for general accounting functions.
He is responsible for the Group’s finance and
administrative functions. Pending the outcome of the legal
proceedings of the Petition, Mr. Liu has been suspended
from his duties as an executive Director effective from
25 September 2020 and he continues to serve the
Company as the financial controller. Mr. Liu is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Tse Ka Wing, aged 49, joined the Group in May 2013
and is the Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
of the Company. He was appointed as an executive
Director with effect from 26 March 2015. He is primarily
responsible for the financial management, supervision of
financial reporting and corporate finance matters, and
company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Tse
graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with
a bachelor of business administration degree. He is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tse is a professional
accountant with over 27 vyears of experience in
accounting and had previously served as a senior
manager of an international firm of certified public
accountants. Pending the outcome of the legal
proceedings of the Petition, Mr. Tse has been suspended
from his duties as an executive Director effective from
25 September 2020 and he continues to serve the
Company as the chief financial officer and the company
secretary.
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Mr. Chang Huan Chia, aged 47, was appointed as an
executive Director on 25 September 2020. He obtained a
bachelor degree in electrical engineering in Yuan Ze
University in Taiwan in 2001 and an executive master of
business administration degree in National Cheng Kung
University in Taiwan in 2024. He has over 20 years of
experience in the technology and electronics industry.
Prior to joining the Group in September 2016, Mr. Chang
was a field application engineer and served as an
assistant manager in HannStar Display Corporation and a
project manager in Fitipower Integrated Technology Inc.
He is responsible for supervising the sales teams of the
Group. He is the chief executive officer and a director of
Perfect Intelligent Technology Limited, a subsidiary of the
Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group and the responsible person of a Taiwan branch of
the Group.

Mr. Kan Man Wai, aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 January 2020
and is responsible for providing independent judgment on
issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard
of conduct of the Company. He is the acting chairman of
the Board. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Kan obtained a Diploma in Management Studies
awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
the Hong Kong Management Association, and
subsequently obtained a Master’'s Degree of Business
Administration in International Management from the Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology in Australia. He has
over 30 vyears of experience in the electronics
manufacturing services industry, including over 20 years
of experience at management level of sales and business
development and 4 years of experience at management
level of business operations. Mr. Kan is currently a Deputy
Program Management Director of PC Partner Group
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1263) and the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (stock code: PCT)) which he joined in
November 2024. Mr. Kan had previously served as a Vice
President of Business Development for Great China and
Korea of Sanmina Corporation, a leading electronics
manufacturing services provider in the world that serves
original equipment manufacturers in communications,
medical, automotive, industrial and defense and
aerospace fields which is headquartered in San Jose,
California, USA and is listed on the Nasdag Stock
Market.

Note: The executive Directors are also the senior management of the
Company.
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Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 25 September
2020 and is responsible for providing independent
judgment on issues of strategy, performance, resources
and standard of conduct of the Company. She is the
chairperson of the audit committee of the Company. She
is also a member of the nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. Ms. Hsu
graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with
a bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu is
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has more
than 20 years of experience in accounting. Ms. Hsu had
been working with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a
partner of Ernst & Young before she retired from the firm
in February 2011. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent
non-executive director of Richly Field China Development
Limited (stock code: 313), China Display Optoelectronics
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 334), Perfect
Medical Health Management Limited (stock code: 1830)
and Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings Limited (stock code:
6828), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky, aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 July 2024 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on issues
of strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct of the Company. He is the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company. He is also a
member of the audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Lau has been serving as
an independent non-executive director of Macau Legend
Development Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1680) since December 2020, and
New Horizon Health Limited, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 6606) since April 2024,
respectively. Mr. Lau obtained a professional diploma in
accountancy from Hong Kong Polytechnic in November
1989. Mr. Lau is a Practising Certified Public Accountant
and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has over 30 years of experience in
auditing and accounting with extensive experience in
areas of initial public offering, merger and acquisition and
corporate finance exercise. He had served Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu for 25 years from 1993 to 2018 and
had been a partner thereof for 17 years. He is currently a
senior director of Moore CPA Limited.

Note: Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky resigned as an independent non-executive
director of New Horizon Health Limited with effect from 14 April
2025.
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The Directors present their report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability on 13 June
2018 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM (“GEM”) of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 7 February 2014.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

Business review of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 as required by Schedule 5 to the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, can be found on pages 5 to 17 and
pages 29 to 31 of this annual report which forms part of
this directors’ report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

To help conserve the environment, the Group has
implemented policies to encourage its employees for the
efficient use of energy and resources. Besides, the Group
has internal control measures in place to ensure that its
suppliers comply with the relevant environmental laws and
regulations.

In addition, details regarding the Group’s environmental
policies and performance can be found in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report set out on
pages 37 to 74 of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) do

not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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There were no movements in the Company’s share capital
during the Year.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$34,736,000 (2023: HK$77,458,000).

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$60,000 (2023: HK$60,000).

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there was no
restriction against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group, as extracted
from the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2020,
31 December 2021, 31 December 2022, 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024, is set out on page 176 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
did not redeem any of its shares, and neither did the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any
of the Company’s shares. The Company did not hold or
sell any treasury shares during the Year.

The Company has a share option scheme (the “2014
Share Option Scheme”) which was approved and adopted
by the then sole shareholder of the Company by way of
written resolutions passed on 20 January 2014. The 2014
Share Option Scheme expired on 19 January 2024 and a
new share option scheme of the Company (the “2024
Share Option Scheme”) was approved and adopted at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 June
2024.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
2014 Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to
provide the Company with a flexible means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the Participants (as
defined below) and for such other purposes as the
Board may approve from time to time.

On and subject to the terms of the 2014 Share
Option Scheme and the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Board may, at its discretion,
invite:

(i) any director of each member of the Group or
of any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (“Invested
Entity”);

(i) any employee (whether full-time or part-time) of
each member of the Group or of any Invested
Entity (the “Employee”);

(i)  any discretionary objects of a discretionary trust
established by any Employee or any director
of each member of the Group or of any
Invested Entity;

(iv) a company beneficially owned by any Employee
or any director of each member of the Group
or of any Invested Entity;

(v)  any consultant, professional and other adviser
to each member of the Group or any Invested
Entity (including their employees or executives
or any persons, firms or companies proposed
to be appointed for providing such services);

(vi) any chief executives or substantial shareholders
of the Company;

(vi) any supplier, customer, service provider,
business or joint venture partner, contractor,
of the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(viii) any person who, at the absolute discretion of
the Board, has contributed or may contribute
to the Group or any Invested Entity, provided
that the Board may at its absolute discretion
determine whether or not one falls within the
above categories,

(together, the “Participants” and each a
“Participant”), to take up share options to subscribe
for shares of the Company at a price determined in
accordance with the terms of the 2014 Share
Option Scheme.
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In determining the basis of eligibility of each
Participant, the Board would take into account such
factors as the Board may at its discretion consider
appropriate.

The 2014 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
20 January 2014 and ended on 19 January 2024.

The period as the Board may in its absolute
discretion determine and specify in relation to any
particular option holder in his option agreement
during which the option may be exercised (subject
to such restriction on exercisability specified therein),
which shall be not greater than the period
prescribed by the GEM Listing Rules from time to
time (which is, as at the date of adoption of the
2014 Share Option Scheme, a period of 10 years
from the date of the granting of the option).

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and
specified in the relevant offer, there is no minimum
period for which an option under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme must be held before the option can
be exercised.

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within the period from the date on which
such offer is made by the Board in accordance with
the 2014 Share Option Scheme to such date as the
Board may determine and specify in the letter where
such offer is made to a Participant in such form as
the Board may from time to time determine, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total
by the grantee.

The subscription price in respect of each Share
issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted
hereunder shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to a Participant and shall be at
least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of offer, which must be a business
day;

(i)  a price being the average of the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date
of offer; and

(i)~ the nominal value of a Share.
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The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue immediately following completion of
the Placing and the Capitalisation Issue (as defined
in the prospectus of the Company dated
24 January 2014 (the “Prospectus”)) (being
132,000,000 Shares). The Company may renew this
limit at any time, subject to shareholders’ approval
and the issue of a circular and in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules provided that the number of
shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under all
the share option schemes does not exceed 30% of
the shares in issue from time to time.

As at 1 January 2024, the number of share options
available for grant under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme was 132,000,000. The 2014 Share Option
Scheme expired on 19 January 2024.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
Participant under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including both exercised and outstanding
Options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their respective associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non—
executive Directors. In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of
their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
2024 Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the 2024 Share Option Scheme is
for the Company to attract, retain and motivate

talented participants

to strive for future

developments and expansion of the Group and to
provide the Company with a flexible means of giving
incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to the Participants and for
such other purposes as the Board may approve
from time to time.

Participants of the 2024 Share Option Scheme
include:

(0

(i

(i)

Employee participant(s), which means the
director(s) and employee(s) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including persons who
are granted options under the 2024 Share
Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into
employment contracts with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries), provided that the
Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine whether or not one falls within such
category;

Related entity participant(s), which means the
director(s) and employee(s) of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated
companies of the Company, provided that the
Board shall have absolute discretion to
determine whether or not one falls within such
category; and

Service provider(s); which means person(s) who
provide(s) services to the Group on a
continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary
and usual course of business which are in the
interests of the long-term growth of the
Group, including but not limited to person(s)
who work(s) for the Company as independent
contractors (including advisers, consultants,
contractors, suppliers, agents, entities
providing research, development or other
technological support and service providers of
any member of the Group) where the
continuity and frequency of their services are
akin to those of employees, but excluding
placing agents or financial advisers providing
advisory services for fundraising, mergers or
acquisitions or professional service providers
such as auditors or valuers who provide
assurance, or are required to perform their
services with impartiality and objectivity.
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The 2024 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing
18 June 2024.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the 2024 Share Option Scheme at any time
during the option period after the option has been
granted by the Board. The option period is a period
to be determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion and notified by the Board to each grantee
as being the period during which an option may be
exercised and in any event, such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date upon which any
particular option is granted in accordance with the
2024 Share Option Scheme.

The vesting period for options under the 2024
Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 12
months.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by
the grantee and the option to which the offer relates
shall be deemed to have been granted and to have
taken effect on the date of the offer when the
duplicate of the letter of offer comprising
acceptance of the offer duly signed by the Grantee
together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 by way of consideration for the granting
thereof is received by the Company within 28 days
from the date of the offer, provided that no such
offer shall be open for acceptance as on and after
the 10th anniversary from 18 June 2024 or as on
and after the date when the 2024 Share Option
Scheme has been terminated in accordance with the
provisions thereof, whichever is the earlier. Such
remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable
or be considered as part of the subscription price.

The subscription price in respect of each Share to
be issued (or treasury share to be transferred, as
applicable) pursuant to the exercise of options
granted shall be a price solely determined by the
Board and notified to a participant and shall be at
least the higher of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer, which must be a
business day; and
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(i

the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer.

Subject to the GEM Listing Rules:

(i)

(i

The total number of Shares which may be
issued (and, together with treasury shares
which may be sold or transferred, as
applicable) in respect of all options to be
granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme
shall not (when aggregated with any Shares
subject to any other share option scheme(s)
and share award scheme(s) that involve(s) the
issuance of new Shares and the transfer of
treasury shares) in aggregate exceed
148,368,715, representing 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue (excluding treasury
shares) as at the date of approval of the 2024
Share Option Scheme by the Shareholders
(“Scheme Mandate Limit"), and within the
Scheme Mandate Limit, the maximum number
of Shares which may be allotted and issued
(and, together with treasury shares which may
be sold or transferred, as applicable) in
respect of all options to be granted to Service
Providers (“Service Provider Sublimit”) must
not in aggregate exceed 14,836,871,
representing 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue (excluding treasury shares) as at the
date of approval of the 2024 Share Option
Scheme by the Shareholders, unless the
Company obtains an approval from its
Shareholders.

The total number of Shares which may be
issued (and, together with treasury shares
which may be sold or transferred, as
applicable) in respect of all options to be
granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme
(in aggregate with any other options and
awards to be granted under any other share
option scheme(s) and share award scheme(s)
of the Company that involve(s) the issuance of
new Shares and the transfer of treasury
shares) under the Scheme Mandate Limit as
refreshed shall not exceed 10% (and the
Service Provider Sublimit as refreshed shall not
exceed 1%) of the total number of Shares in
issue (excluding treasury shares) as at the
date of approval of the refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit (and the refreshed Service
Provider Sublimit).
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The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to a single participant under
the 2024 Share Option Scheme in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
shall not (when aggregated with any Shares subject
to any other share option scheme(s) and share
award scheme(s) that involve(s) the issuance of new
Shares and the transfer of treasury shares but
excluding those which have lapsed in accordance
with terms of the relevant scheme(s)) exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares),
unless the Company obtains an approval from its
Shareholders.

As at 18 June, 2024, being the date of adoption, and
31 December 2024, the number of share options available
for grant under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the
service provider sublimit was 148,368,715 and
14,836,871 respectively.

No share option has been granted under the 2024 Share
Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme
(collectively, the “Share Option Schemes”) since their
adoptions.

Save for the Share Option Schemes, at no time during the
Year was the Company, its parent company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (suspended)
Mr. Liu Ka Wing (suspended)
Mr. Tse Ka Wing (suspended)
Mr. Chang Huan Chia

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kan Man Wai (Acting Chairman)

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen

Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (appointed on 1 July 2024)

Mr. Cho Chi Kong (resigned on 1 July 2024)

Mr. Wong Yik Chung John (suspended) (retired on
18 June 2024)

Mr. Wong Chi Chiu (suspended) (retired on
18 June 2024)
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By virtue of article 108 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Tse Ka Wing and Mr.
Kan Man Wai will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, Mr. Tse Ka
Wing and Mr. Kan Man Wai will, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky was
appointed as independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 July 2024. In accordance with article 112 of
the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Lau Ngai
Kee Ricky will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, will offer himself for
re-election.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
25 September 2020, pending the outcome of the legal
proceedings of the petition dated 25 September 2019
issued by the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region which was taken out by the
Securities and Futures Commission against certain current
and former directors of the Company, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak,
Mr. Liu Ka Wing, Mr. Tse Ka Wing, Mr. Wong Yik Chung
John and Mr. Wong Chi Chiu have been suspended from
their duties as Directors with effect from 25 September
2020.

The Company has received annual confirmation of
independence from all the existing independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the Board
considers them to be independent.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years,
except terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ prior written notice to the other. They are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years, except terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other. They are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to
enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group
offers competitive remuneration packages (with reference
to market conditions and individual qualifications and
experience) and various in-house training courses. The
remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular
basis.
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The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard to
the Group’s operating results, market competitiveness,
individual performance and achievement, to the Board for
determination.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in Note 34 and Note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its
parent company was a party and in which a director of
the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every
director of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company maintains
directors and officers liability insurance, which gives
appropriate cover for any legal action brought against its
directors. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior
management are set out on pages 75 to 77 of this annual
report.

During the Year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group.

Based on the information available to the Company and
within the knowledge and belief of the Directors, none of
the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the
Company (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) have
any business or interest which competes or may compete
with the business of the Group, or have any other conflict
of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group throughout the year ended 31 December
2024.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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As at 31 December 2024, interests and short positons in  RZZEZWMF+-_A=+—HB EFELAQT
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the FEEBTHABR ARG sk ET MBI LB (E
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the & B &5 LB E GG ([F 5 R EEEH]) EXV
meaning of Part XV of the Securites and Futures #B) KRR - AR M REFT A RIEFEF
Ordinance (the “SFO”) held by the Directors and chief X ERE & FIEXVERE7R 80 ZBATRE A H
executives of the Company which have been notified to @ARA MBI EZE AR (BEKESR
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 1&&EZH M HIE K0 09 :Z 56 R E (B R 1E
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including #EMEZELAR)  KIBIBEES M EEHIE
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed 3521 FT R + 780 8R 1 5% 1§ B B 48 A0 & 52 it R
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or have been Iz M A B » s iR EGEM L ™ 4R B 55.46%2
entered in the register maintained by the Company 567 FTEZESHETRX S Z2EBIFRE A
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have HMEARRRBIAAESRRABWT ¢
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the standard of dealings by directors set out
in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as
follows:
Percentage of
Number of  the Company’s
Name of Director Capacity shares held issued shares
RATE BT
EEHE =8%) FrEERGEE =l
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak Interest in controlled corporation 928,427,151 62.24%
BB E RN (Note) (Bt 5%)
Beneficial owner 2,220,000 0.15%
ExnEAA
925,647,151 62.39%
Mr. Kan Man Wai Beneficial owner 320,000 0.02%
i & S EmEB A
Note: M EE

These 923,427,151 shares are held by Winful Enterprises Limited (“Winful
Enterprises”), which in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Cheng
Wai Tak. As such, Mr. Cheng Wai Tak is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in these 923,427,151 shares held by Winful Enterprises.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were

#%923,427,151 J% f% 19 F3Winful Enterprises Limited ([ Winful
Enterprises |) #4  fiWinful Enterprises i Zj & =55 £ 2 & &
ERER - Bt BREZESNMPEKRA BEELEHRS
AWinful EnterprisesF 5 A 8 5% 5928,427, 151 R D F HH
ok o

BREXHBEEEN R_F_NWE+—A
=t+—HB EERARATIETBAEHRERN
ARmREEMBABZEZE(EXEREFMYPE
fERBIEXVED) BB - MR RESFF - BE
RARE 5 M B 50 EXVED F7K87 &F Fi 4%
E o ANEGARARNB MBI ERIOAR (B
RIR 8 55 R B IR /9 3% = IR SO E (SR AR
EREENER MR R)  HRIBES M AE &P
SEIB2MEKFTRTE - AL B EZGPIFTIEN AR R
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required to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the standard of dealings by
directors set out in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December
2024, other than the Directors and chief executives of the
Company, the following persons/entities have an interest
or a short position in the shares or the underlying shares
of the Company which were required to be disclosed to
the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were required to be recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

Name Nature of interests

=2 EmME

Winful Enterprises Directly beneficially owned
BEEERHB

Note: Mr. Cheng Wai Tak is deemed under the SFO to be interested in
these 923,427,151 shares held by Winful Enterprises. Mr. Cheng
Wai Tak is also a director of Winful Enterprises.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no
other person had any interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to
be recorded in the register of the Company required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 52.3% (2023: 40.0%) of the total sales for
the year and sales to the largest customer included

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

R MAMmERSAR - SR EGEM i 48 8l
FE5.ABIKEF5.67IKFTHESRHEITR HHIZER
BT MAMESAQ A RBIMERSAR -

MBS R-_E_NF+_-_A=+—H"
BREERAQAREZTHABIN THALS
ERBNARD ARG S8R5 %A R EF
F REE GO EXVERF2 K35 H /A M A R Rl K
B IRIRE 5 R I E G0 E3361K T E - AR
8% 7 5% 6 B B 8 &9 728 1~ 7% 50 R A 4 25 =l0%k
BT :

Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
shares held issued shares
AATFE BT
FRERGEE RGBS
928,427,151 62.24%
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therein amounted to approximately 26.6% (2023: 21.1%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 89.8% (2023: 88.1%) of the
total purchases for the year and purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to
approximately 47.6% (2023: 78.7%).

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) had an interest in these major suppliers or
customers.

The material related party transactions in relation to the
key management personnel remuneration and the
guarantee provided by a director as disclosed in Note
32(c) and Note 32(d) to the consolidated financial
statements respectively are connected transactions
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float
required by the GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this
report.

All the independent non-executive Directors were
delegated with the authority to review on an annual basis
the compliance with the non-competition undertaking
given by each of Mr. Cheng Wai Tak and Winful
Enterprises, the controlling shareholders of the Company
(collectively, the “Covenantors”) in favour of the Company
dated 20 January 2014 (the “Non-Competition Deed”).
The Covenantors have provided to the Company all
information necessary for the annual review by the
independent non-executive Directors and the Covenantors
have confirmed to the Company that each of the
Covenantors and his/its associates has not breached the
terms of the undertakings contained in the Non-
Competition Deed. All independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that they are not aware of any non-
compliance with the Non-Competition Deed by the
Covenantors during the Year.

Details of the Non-Competition Deed have been set out in
the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders” of the Prospectus.
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Save for the Share Option Schemes, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 18 to 36 of this annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire at the forth
coming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Perfect Optronics Limited

Kan Man Wai
Acting Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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To the Shareholders of Perfect Optronics Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Perfect Optronics
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 100 to 175, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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: PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We draw your attention to Note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, which states that the Group incurred
a net loss of HK$43,641,000 and there was a net cash
outflow from operating activities of HK$18,014,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$24,407,000. These conditions, along with other
matters as described in note 2.1(a) to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section,
we have determined the matter described below to be the
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to
revenue recognition.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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Key Audit Matter
HRETSR

Revenue recognition

LN

Refer to Note 2.2.7 and Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
2HBEEYBEHRERWF2.2.7 KM FES5 -

The Group’s revenue consists of sales of display and
optics products and related electronic components, as
well as health-related products and other products.
EEENRABRETNRLBER REMBEEFI
“ UREEEEEGRAMERNEE -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, revenue of
approximately HK$92,605,000 was recognised in the
Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

BE_Z_NFEF+_A=+—BHLFE BEHELK
&2 H K& & B R A 492,605,000 TT °

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised at a
point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customers, and the customers have full discretion
over the products.

HERMMABRARE RNIEHECEER TEP K iE
RAEREEXETPUHEMER Y MIEERK -

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of
revenue transactions occurred and hence, significant
audit effort was spent in auditing this area.
BAZERFTEANRAERMESENRAR S SRR
RNeFHit Btk ETREESA TE-

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMWEBETNMEEREARENSE

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition
included:

BRI AERETZIEF B3

° We understand management’s process in
relation to revenue recognition from sales of

goods;
BRUTHREEBEEMHERAERTEZR
2

° We evaluated the appropriateness of the
revenue recognition policies as adopted by
management;
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%Fﬂ%ﬁﬁuﬁz)\ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁZE%
:\i 0

° We tested, on a sample basis, revenue
transactions recognised during the vyear to
supporting documents, e.g. sales contracts,
delivery documents and shipping documents;
and
BT R - SERAXH (FInEEER -
EEREERBR)ETRE BRHEEXHMU
BAAFEABRBHBRARS :

° We tested, on a sample basis, revenue

transactions recognised before and after the
financial year end to supporting documents,
e.g. delivery documents and shipping
documents to determine whether revenue had
been recognised in the appropriate financial
period.
BPAMBE TN ETRFEREBN R 2 EE
RO ABEFRAG (FINEEREERER)E
TRE UETHBABRARETEEE N BH
T AR -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
the Group’s revenue recognition was supported by
the evidence obtained.
RBFDHNITIRT - HAIEE
MGEBZF o

EEEZRAERE

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ng Ka Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AEETHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HLFE

2023
HK$’000
FAT
Revenue A 5, 6 92,605 124,255
Cost of sales 35 & KR 8 (81,951) (108,961)
Gross profit EF 10,654 15,294
Other (losses)/gains, net Hih (&8 W FE 7 (18,818) 10,956
Distribution and selling expenses D REERY 8 (12,533) (22,087)
General and administrative —MRATERHRX
expenses 8 (21,557) (23,890)
Research and development MREBEERX
expenses 8 (1,227) (938)
Operating loss REBR (43,481) (20,665)
Finance income R PN 104 280
Finance costs 58 A (229 (329)
Finance costs, net M5B A FE 10 (125) (45)
Loss before income tax MRETEBBATER (43,606) (20,710)
Income tax expense FriS R B 2 11 (35) (10)
Loss for the year FEEE (43,641) (20,720)
Other comprehensive income/ Hi2mzs (BHE):
(loss):
Iltem that may be subsequently GEETE S EE
reclassified to income statement Wam .2 IEH
Currency translation differences SN E E R 316 (42)
ltems that will not be subsequently FE# T & EH 7 HE
reclassified to income statement Wz HEA
Change in value of financial asset at & QA R BEFT AH A
fair value through other rHNGECEREE
comprehensive income BEZ (132) 200
Currency translation differences INEETH =58 91 =
Total comprehensive loss FEXEBRER
for the year (43,366) (20,562)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
RertERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z_WNE+_A=+—RIFE

2024 2023

—E_MF —_ZET-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
b= F#& T FAT

Loss for the year attributable to: FEEERBR :
Equity holders of the Company EN/NESIE: SRS RSN (42,908) (19,104)
Non-controlling interests

IR A (735) (1,616)

(43,641) (20,720)

Total comprehensive loss for the FEZMHEEARE

year attributable to: BER:
Equity holders of the Company EN/NESIE: SRS RSN (42,722) (18,946)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR = (644) (1,616)

(43,366) (20,562)

Loss per share for loss attributable A2 B FHE A

to equity holders of the ELHEEBEZ

Company for the year SRESR
Basic and diluted (expressed in BEXAR#E

HK cents per share) (A BB AL %I R) 12 (2.89) (1.29)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive [l F4EA&2EKEREEBEN T —HEE -

income should be

accompanying notes.

read

in conjunction with the




Consolido’red Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R R

As at 31 December 2024
RZE-_mMF+=—A=+—H

2023
Note HK$’000
B 5 FE T
Assets 5=
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- WE k&S 14 688 169
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 — =
Intangible assets BEAEE 16 5,322 5,322
Deferred income tax assets EEFMSEHEE 26 — 69
Financial asset at fair value BAREBEFTAHA
through other comprehensive FHKREZEREE
income 18 1,368 1,500
Financial asset at fair value BEAnBEFAER
through profit or loss LEREE 19 — 35,848
0878 42,908
Current assets B ﬁ B
Inventories EE 20 5,060 17,907
Trade and other receivables JE L BR 3k N H Ath pE
W 3K 21 4,871 7,944
Financial asset at fair value EAREERA
through profit or loss BERzZemEE 19 16,641 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 22 24,407 47,372
50,979 73,223
Total assets EEHRE 58,357 116,131
Equity and liabilities EERKEE
Equity attributable to equity EATEREEAEWN
holders of the Company s
Share capital fi& 2= 23 14,837 14,837
Reserves B 116,402 116,218
Accumulated losses RitEsiE (81,666) (38,760)
. 495878 . 92,295
Non-controlling interests FERER (4,163) (3,519)
Total equity ESBE 45,410 88,776
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRR R

As at 31 December 2024
RZEZMNE+=ZA=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NEF —ET-=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3 FExT FE T
Liabilities =K
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank loan RITER 25 3,066 3,810
Lease liabilities HESE 15 16 623
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFMEHAE 26 3 —
8085 4438
Current liabilities FEBEE
Trade and other payables FEA BRZR I E b fE
5% 24 8,250 19,034
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHEaE — 395
Bank loan RITER 25 743 709
Lease liabilities HEA®E 15 869 2,784
... 9862 22922
Total liabilites ~~ &Af@\&#s® 12947 27,355
Total equity and liabilities ERREBEHEE 58,357 116,131

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 1002 175B MG A M BHREEN T _AF
175 were approved by the Board of Directors on 25 ZA - t+HEHEFeHE YRXEZTEH

March 2025 and were signed on its behalf. Zo
Chang Huan Chia Hsu Wai Man Helen
RER ®EH

Director Director

BE BE

The above consolidated statement of financial position M F4RA RN R EEFEM T —FRHE -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
G O fE L B

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-_WF+_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AARERKAAER

(Note 1) (Note 2)

(H3E1) (Wz2)

Non-

Share Share Other Merger Revaluation  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserves reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
BE  RHEE HithEs SRR EMREE EXRE  EZHER F2REE RBEAR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TERT TER TER TERT TER TERT B TER TERT

Balance at 1 January 2024 ~ —Z-W%E-A-H

F1] 14,837 465,738 67,349 (415,675) (1,106) (88) (38,760) 92,295 (3,519) 88,776
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - (42,908)  (42,906) (735)  (43,641)
Other comprehensive income/ EH#2EKE/
(loss) (%)
Currency tranglation differences SN E £ - - - - - 316 - 316 91 407

Change in value of financial B2 R BEALM
asset at fair value through 2EhEZER
other comprehensive EEEEZY
income - - - - (132) - - (132) - (132)

Total other comprehensive Hb2EREEE
income - - - - (132) 316 - 184 91 275

Balance at 31 December 2024 —E-ME+ZA
EE: ) 14837 465738 67349 (415675  (1.239) 208 (81666 49573 (4163 45410




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEREZHX

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WFE+-_A=+—RALFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FARERRA ARG
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Fstn) (Biit)
Non-
Share Share Other Merger Revaluation ~ Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserves reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
BA  RAEE HtREE AKEE EREE ELRE  2HEER @i EkEE  ERER

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TR TET TR TR TR TR TR TR TR TR

Balance at 1 January 2023 ~—E-=%-HA-H
F1] 14,837 465,738 67,349 (415,675) (1,306) (46) (19,656) 111,241 (1,903) 109,338
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year FEBR = = = = = = (19,104)  (19,104) (1616)  (20,720)
Other comprehensive (loss) ~ Et2HE (58) /
income 1§
Currency tranglation differences SME T EZ - - - - - (42) - (42) - (42)
Change in value of financial &2 £ BEF AL
asset at fair value through 2EhEZER
other comprehensive BEEBEEY
income - - - - 200 - - 200 - 200
Total other comprehensive Et2ENEAE
income - - - - 200 (42 - 168 - 158
Total comprehensive loss 2EFRLE = = = = 200 (42) (19,104) (18,946 (1,616)  (20,562)
Balance at 31 December 2023 —E-=#+=§
St-HEH 14,837 465,738 67,349 (415,675) (1,108) 88) (38,760) 92,295 (3,519) 88,776
Notes: Bt 5
1 Other reserves include: (1) the difference between the share capital 1 EmEHEeFE (WVREAAG Lm#ETHEA(E
issued by the Company for acquisition of the subsidiaries pursuant M) AREHBBEHRBARCEITHRARNRESR
to a reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) for the listing of the BHEEEONBARZBERNNER  RQFTAER
Company and the aggregate capital of the subsidiaries being EHEHNERREREZERSRE -
acquired at the time of the Reorganisation; and (2) the amount of
the loan waived by the controlling shareholder upon completion of
a common control combination.
2 Revaluation reserve represents fair value reserve for financial asset 2 ERERFEHEDERAABEFAEMZAREZEHE
at fair value through other comprehensive income. ENARBERER-

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity A F4GARZEBRELEBEHHE—HEE -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nﬂi/&~£ﬁfézlﬂbgﬂ;€5

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE-_ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HLFE

2023
—_E-=
Note HK$’000
B 5 FAT
Cash flows from operating BRETHNRESRE
activities
Cash used in operations KEMARSE 28(a) (17,427) (33,367)
Income tax paid E Siﬁ FriS (358) -
Interest paid =EELRE (150) (173)
Payments of interest element of {478 ff\ﬁ B E &
lease liabilities 15, 28(c) (79) (152)
Net cash used in operating KETEEFAFRS
activities (18,014) (383,692)
Cash flows from investing REFTBNRERE
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BB E % - BE & &
equipment 14 (677) (144)
Interest received 2B 104 280
Net cash (used in)/generated wEEE(FTR)
from investing activities FrisFR& (573) 136
Cash flows from financing METHNRERE
activities
Repayments of bank loan BERITER 28(c) (710) (687)
Payments of principal element of X E & EAR L&D
lease liabilities 15, 28(c) (3,025) (4,238)
Net cash used in financing MEFDHAAFR:2
activities (8,735) (4,925)
Net decrease in cash and cash BE&RBESZEYWRH D
equivalents FH (22,322) (38,481)
Cash and cash equivalents at F RS NIRELEEY
beginning of year 47,372 85,709
Exchange differences on cash Ba&RREZEWIER
and cash equivalents =% (643) 144
Cash and cash equivalents at FERBERBRESEEY
end of year 22 24,407 47,372

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should A F4AE S RERELEFEWH F— 0 E
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Perfect Optronics Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 13 June
2013, as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law (as Revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office
is Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
Company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in trading, development and sale
of display and optics products and related electronic
components, as well as trading of health-related
products and other products.

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622.

HKFRS comprise the following authoritative
literature:

° Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,

° Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”),
and

° Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which
have been measured at fair value.

e B R R MY R

BEZXEERARTARRADRZEZE—=
FRAT=BRBERAEHE R TEUBET
NERSHSEMK IR —FEREE
@ﬂﬂoﬂ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%mmes,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman lIslands ° 7%
NERMDRBE B AR5 MAR A FGEM
B

ZIS”RTH—F'EHxéT C i E B A
A (4 ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁlJ)IEi&éZEm&ﬁﬂF

DD&*EE‘%%%_LBH:ZE% FMEENIEES -

NERERBAEMRREMERCES °

FRA BB HERAPHRRTINE
T_L(D%T_EJ)Q%EIJ

ERNGAT KRR RBE LSS
(I&; EquEﬁi e ) EHRHEBITE
R ([&E EIW#E%EE'JJ)M&E
AE B 55622F B 4 55 45 & #E 1 o

5SS B
Il Ifr I8 A
ﬁ\

BREMBRELER BT THESE -

s EARAUBHREER:

e FABEFEATHFEBGFERD:
54
s FEARAEHMASHENRE-

EEE TF#&%E@T)@rE’iEXl‘% e

iR /N = ﬁ.ﬁr/\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁuﬁz ([Z2HR
Tﬁuﬁ')\ﬁfﬁiﬁqﬁl )2 emEERR
@ﬁ{ﬁfﬁn-l—)\ltg (f?ﬁz’\ﬁfﬁ@d‘)\?@
sz emMEERN B AR EBEEE

T

B Bk

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]

107



108

R BRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded a loss for the year of HK$43,641,000
(2023: HK$20,720,000) and had a net cash outflow
from operating activities of HK$18,014,000 (2023:

HK$33,692,000). As at 31 December 2024,

Group‘s net current assets position was
HK$41,117,000 (2023: HK$50,301,000) with cash
and cash equivalents of HK$24,407,000 (2023:
HK$47,372,000). The Group experienced recurring
losses and multiple challenges from frequent
changes in market demands, shrinking sales and

external macro-environment.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the ability of the Group to continue as a
going concern. The Board has assessed the
appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis
for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position, the Group has been implementing

various measures as follows:

(i) the Group will dispose of its financial asset at

FVTPL with a carrying amount

HK$16,641,000 as at 31 December 2024

within a certain period;

(i) the Group will continue to take initiatives to
implement cost control measures, including
adjusting human resources and streamlining

other operating costs; and

(i)  the Group will continue its efforts to implement
measures to strengthen its operating cash
flows and working capital position, including
adjusting sales activities to better respond to
market needs, making efforts to promote sales
and deferring discretionary capital

expenditures, where necessary.
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The Board has reviewed the Group’s cashflow
forecast prepared by management which covers a
period of not less than twelve months from
31 December 2024. The Board, after making due
enquiries and considering the basis of
management’s cashflow forecast described above
and after taking into account the reasonably
possible changes in the operation performance of
the Group, believes there will be sufficient financial
resources available to the Group at least for the
twelve months after 31 December 2024 to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Accordingly, the Board considers that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty
exists as to whether management of the Group is
able to achieve its plans and measures as described
above. Whether the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern would depend upon the Group’s
ability to generate adequate cash flows through
achieving the below plans and measures:

(i) successful disposal of its financial asset at
FVTPL within a certain period to generate the
cash flow as planned; and

(if) successful implementation of measures to
control operating costs, adjust sales activities
to promote sales and deferring discretionary
capital expenditures where necessary, so as to
improve the Group’s cash flow position.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards for its annual reporting period

commencing 1 January 2024:

° Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current — amendments HKAS 1

° Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

amendments HKAS 1

o Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback —

amendments HKFRS 16

o Hong Kong Interpretation 5

o Supplier Finance Arrangements

amendments HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the

current or future periods.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

(Revised)
Presentation of Financial Statements
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause — amendments HK int 5 (Revised)
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Certain new and amended standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting period
and have not been early adopted by the Group.
These amendments are not expected to have a
material impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power
to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial position
respectively.
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Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.
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Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “other
(losses)/gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as part of the fair value gain
or loss and translation differences on non-monetary
assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position,
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° income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions),
and

o all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities, and of borrowings and other financial
instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
or liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the company are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and
presented in “other (losses)/gains, net”
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other (losses)/gains,
net. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in
other (losses)/gains, net and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and presented within
“other (losses)/gains, net” in the period in
which it arises.
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The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL are recognised in other (losses)/gains, net in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as applicable. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials and other direct costs. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets. Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less allowance for impairment.

Sales of goods are recognised when control of the
products has transferred, being when the products
are delivered to the customer, the customer has full
discretion over the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customer, and either the
customer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions
have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
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Except for the reorganisation for the listing of the
Company and business combinations under
common control, the Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquired business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in
the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired
entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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The excess of the:
° consideration transferred,

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts
classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement
are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the
directors, who make strategic decisions.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
term of the leases or
5 years

Moulds and machinery  2-5 years

Furniture and office 3-5 years
equipment
Motor vehicles 4-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
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An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “other (losses)/gains,

net”.

Club memberships with indefinite useful life are
stated at cost less any impairment losses, which are
tested annually for impairment.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
group of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of
loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of
the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case,
the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility
to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as finance
costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.
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General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
the period in which they are incurred.

The income tax expense or credit for the period is
the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
income tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date in
the countries where the Group operates and
generates taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred income tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it
is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets and liabilities and when
the deferred income tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current income tax assets and
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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Current and deferred income tax is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The Group pays contributions to defined
contribution plans in Hong Kong and Taiwan. The
schemes are generally funded through payments to
separate trustee-administered funds, determined by
periodic calculations.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to administered
pension plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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The Group also contributes on a monthly basis to
defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The municipal and provincial governments
undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired
employees for post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. The assets of these plans are
held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds managed by the
PRC government. Contributions to these plans are
expensed as incurred.

The expected cost of bonus payments wholly due
within 12 months after the balance sheet date are
recognised as a liability where the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the statement of financial position
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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The Group’s net obligations in respect of long
service payment to its employees on cessation of
employment in certain circumstances under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefits that the employees have earned in
return for their services in the current and prior
periods.

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement schemes that are attributed to
contributions made by the Group. The discount rate
is the yield at the end of each reporting period of
Hong Kong Government Bonds, which are
denominated in the currency in which the benefits
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related
obligations. The expected costs of these benefits
are recognised in profit or loss over the period of
employment. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised in full in other
comprehensive income in the year in which they
occur. Changes in the present value of the defined
benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or
curtailments are recognised in profit or loss as past
service costs.

Perfect Optronics Limited Annual Report 2024

RIB(EBRBHIDNRE  EETHBER
TELRES AEEREESZXNED
R EWERFESEBLEE A MATH
) 4 (AR 75 1 1S RO R SR A& ) -

ZEGRBEAELEEETE  TAER
A WHRANEEBRAKGE TR E
MGEEARREEBNHRK) cBRKRBER
BEEFRSHRERAROUEE  ZER
BRESAXNBMOEEE SN
PREABEEGHOHRAE - ZFRHNIE
HRAERBEHRANERPER - HER
HAEMBERREIMEENKERSRE
HLEEFNEMES RSP EHER -
BE CREE AR E GOl F ERUE-3 3
BEHEBETERSBERBAA -



Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
anyone item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expenses.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

° by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.
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Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Group leases various properties. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to
3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain various terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but
leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
the corresponding liabilities at the date at which the
leased assets are available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives
receivable

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees
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° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group, where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as a
starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was
received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease

liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

° any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Subsidies from the government are recognised at
their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the subsidies will be received and
the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government subsidies relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk and
price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. Risk management is carried out by the
senior management of the Group.

The Group is primarily exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from United States dollars (“USD”),
Renminbi (“RMB”) and New Taiwan dollars (“TWD”).

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency. Management
periodically reviews assets and liabilities held in
currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
to ensure that net exposure is kept at an
acceptable level. The Group does not enter into any
arrangement to hedge its foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates. In the opinion of the directors, HK$
are reasonably stable against the USD under the
Linked Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis with respect to the USD against
HK$ is performed.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the impact on exchange differences for TWD
and RMB are immaterial as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 due to the low volume of transactions
and minimal amount of balances recognised in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency,
and accordingly no sensitivity analysis is performed.

Fa B RRME

AEEMEBAXSBY KRR mHR
BR(BEIIERR BEeRELAAEBE
FERRRESRR) FERR KRR
R RERRR Zii’il%‘ﬁfﬂ’]ﬂ
BIE Jrgﬂﬁiﬁﬁw,ﬁ A mms —r
k& iﬁﬂfﬁﬁ$’§lﬁ7ﬁ5‘¥ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]
ERFIEE -RREERAERSEEE
AB#TT

FAEBEBATER(ER) ARY
(TAR®]) R# &% (316 %)) HMNER,
B o

SN R ﬁXEiﬁEMEEﬁJ}ﬁEEMEﬂEE’J
ARBEZXGURCHEREERAB B
BEEHERIFAEBAERFAD
BEREBE BRARAERFTNAIER
IR o RS BN RT3 AEAR] 22 HR s E A
EE 2 B2 o

AEEFTEINEERE T - FIEHASNE
RoEERR EHEEXHET 8

TRAETHEFRAEBERBEKF - &k - 8

BT HAABTELBREDN -

ZIS AEERARERRZERRAFER

DEHEEERREREHEL BR_-F
—MER_FT_=F+_A=+—H"'HA
HHEBRARBELANEXZABMA
RE - B EETHRERH

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]

135



B 7% 3R & Bt 5

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from
bank balances and bank loan. Other than bank
balances and bank loan, the Group does not have
significant interest-bearing assets or liabilities.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates had been
100 basis points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, the pre-tax loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$206,000 lower/
higher (2023: HK$420,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest income from bank
balances.

The Group’s exposure to price risk arises from
investments held by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position either as
FVOCI or at FVTPL.

At 31 December 2024, if the fair values of the
investments classified as financial assets at FVTPL
and FVOCI had been 10% higher/lower, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s pre-tax
loss and other components of equity would have
been approximately HK$1,664,000 lower/higher
(2023: HK$3,585,000 lower/higher) and
approximately HK$137,000 higher/lower (2023:
HK$150,000 higher/lower) respectively. Pre-tax loss
for the year would decrease/increase as a result of
gains/losses on financial asset classified as at
FVTPL. Other components of equity would increase/
decrease as a result of gains/losses on financial
asset classified as FVOCI.
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Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
arises from trade and other receivables, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets. The credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis with reference to the financial position
of the debtors, past experience and other factors.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that the
sales of products are made to customers with
appropriate credit histories and the Group performs
regular credit evaluations of its major customers.

The Group applies the lifetime expected loss
provision, as permitted under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, for all trade receivables.

The Group considers the credit risk characteristics
of the trade receivables to measure the expected
credit loss (“ECL"). For the trade receivables, the
Group has assessed the ECL by considering
historical default rates, existing market conditions
and forward-looking information. Based on the
Group’s assessment, ECL rate of trade receivables
is close to zero. Therefore, the loss allowance
provision for these trade receivables balances was
not material.

The Group’s bank deposits and bank balances are
deposited in reputable banks. Management does not
expect any losses from non-performance by these
banks.
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The Group’s other financial assets carried at
amortised cost include deposits and other
receivables in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based
on the 12-month expected credit loss. The
12-month expected credit loss is the portion of
lifetime expected credit loss that results from default
events on a financial instrument that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. However,
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime expected credit loss.

To assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

—  external credit rating (as far as available);

— actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, management
considered the credit risk of deposits and other
receivables to be low as counterparties have a
strong capacity to meet their contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term. The Group has
assessed that the expected credit losses for these
other receivables were immaterial under 12-month
expected losses method. Therefore, no provision
was recognised.
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Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities, and the ability to settle the payables of
the Group.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the date of the statement of
financial position to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as
the impact of discounting is not significant.

Fa B RRME

EENRDECRAREEREERITAR
MR MEERES  RAENEEASH
HY FE A 5K

TRIVRASEN S BB ERIE A MR
MEBESHDE BRI AR RAEH
DHBRNETHON - ERARENES R
REHWRMEANRSRE -ARWREATE
WAEAK - #1218 A REIH 0 A& 87 B H AR
EAESREE -

Between Between

1 and 2 and Over
2 years 5 years 5 years Total
1ZE25F 285 S5FME #at

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$000
THEIL TR xT  FTART AR

Less than
1 year
1FE R
HK$’000
FHET
At 31 December R-ZZB-_MF
2024 +=—HA=+—8H
Trade payables FE - BR 3Kk
Other payables H S 5k
Bank loan RITER
Lease liabilities HEAR
At 31 December R-B-=F
2023 +=ZHA=+—H
Trade payables P& BR 3K 7,717
Other payables H S 5k 7,424
Bank loan IRITE R 861
Lease liabilities MEA&E 2,849
18,851

— — — 7,717

— — — 7,424
861 2,582 717 5,021
628 — — 3,477
1,489 2,582 717 23,639

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]
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B 7% 3R & Bt 5

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
debt-to-asset ratio. The ratio is calculated as total
debt divided by total assets. Total debt is calculated
as interest-bearing borrowings. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares and sell
assets to reduce debit.

During the vyear, the Group’s strategy, which
remained unchanged from prior year, was to
maintain a net cash position. As at 31 December
2024, the Group has a net cash position and the
aggregate balances of unrestricted bank deposits,
and cash and cash equivalents exceeded the total
interest-bearing debt by HK$20,598,000 (2023:
HK$42,853,000).
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Financial instruments carried at fair value are
analysed by valuation method. The different levels
have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the assets or
liabilities, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level
2).

° Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents and
trade, bills and other receivables; and the Group’s
financial liabilities, including bank loan, trade and
other payables approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities.

The nominal values less any estimated -credit
adjustments for financial assets and liabilities with a
maturity of less than one year are assumed to
approximate their fair values. The fair value of
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is
available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.

Fa B RRME
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3.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBRRME

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continueqd)

The following table presents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
consolidated statement of financial position across
the three levels.

Recurring fair value measurements
Financial asset at FVTPL

BEMEDABENE

BORBEFARRL

3.3

BHREREE (F)

D ABEMEE (&)

TRIH=ERFN RS M BERAKREA
AEEHEZESRTAREE-

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024
R-EB-_NE+-A=t-HZAAEETE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HE $3E @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THER THERT THERT

Z1[E
HK$’000
TERT

investment can be determined by using quoted prices, it
has therefore been reclassified from level 3 to level 1.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the
end of the reporting period.

— Listed equity securities (Note) - tTRERSF
(F&E) 16,641 - - 16,641
Financial asset at FVOCI Hz’&;’t EBEGAEMZE
hmzeBEE
— Unlisted equity securities - FETREZES - - 1,368 1,368
16,641 - 1,368 18,009
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023
R-E-=ZF+-A=+-BZRABEHE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E B2 E3E Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET AL FAET FiET
Recurring fair value measurements REMDAEETE
Financial asset at FVTPL BRABEFABRL
SREE
— Unlisted preferred shares - EEmELR = = 35,848 35,848
Financial asset at FVOCI BOABEFAEMEZE
hazeBEE
— Unlisted equity securities - FETREES = - 1,500 1,500
= = 37,348 37,348
Note: As mentioned in Note 19 below, since the unlisted preferred B e : SR T SCMTsE1ORT ML  ZIELETEAERER =
shares were listed in April 2024, the fair value of such T_NFENA LT ZRENARBEM] B

WESE ANECHEIBENHEEIE -

AEBEHREERNRERARERR
BRzBAREH -

REE




The Group further assessed the need for transfers
between levels in the hierarchy given the changes in
economic conditions and considering whether a lack
of observable information existed for factors relevant
to the value of certain instruments. In this regard,
other than the transfer of the Group’s financial asset
at FVTPL from level 3 to level 1 as explained above,
there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3
during the year (2023: Nil).

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2024

and 2023:
Balance at R=-®==
1 January 2023 —A—Bz&&
Fair value changes recognised in  F E {th 2 m W 25
other comprehensive income WRZAREE
Fair value changes recognised in R Eth (F548)
other (losses)/gains, net Wz F TR
DREEBEEE
Balance at R-ZEZ=F
31 December 2023 +=A=+—H
and 1 January 2024 R-—Z_mF
—A—Bz&t
Fair value changes recognised in 7 H b & g 25
other comprehensive income WRZAREE
Fair value changes recognised in R E fth (Ei8)
other (losses)/gains, net W FREER
AREEBEEZE
Transfer to level 1 HYEE
Balance at R-ZE-MF
31 December 2024 +=ZA=+—H
2 e

Fa B RRME

ERNKERTVES AERIETITAN
BERBEARESRZABEREN  AE
BE-THAHESERATETERER
RMEN - EEHE R T XA ARE
B ARBEFABRZENEERS
SEEBBREF1EI - FRAFE - F2E R
FIB AU BER(—FT_=F &)

TRERBE_FT_MFR_FT_=F
+tZA=t-BULEEEIBIALS
Unlisted Unlisted
preferred equity
shares securities Total
kLt kLt
BER fREE S st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FA& T FHET FHET
25,201 1,300 26,501
= 200 200
10,647 = 10,647

BEXETHERAT 2024 F3R
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R BRRME

The following table summarises the valuation
techniques used and the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in
level 3 fair value measurements:

Significant

unobservable
Description Valuation technique inputs

ERFTITHE
i B b {8 £ 1l PN ¢

Ordinary shares issued Discounted cash flow Weighted
by a private entity method (2023: average
same) cost of
capital
(“WACC”)

—MRECERTZE BRBERAE InEEHE

B ZEZ=F R AKX
([ hn#e
F15E A
A ])

Valuation of the above financial asset held by the
Group as at the end of the reporting period was
performed by independent valuer.
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TERBANEIB AR EEFTEMBGEE
BRIOEFAERTABRGABBNTEE

T

Value

EfE

17.26%
(2023:
16.16%)

17.26%
g
16.16% )

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
THBERAHEHR
AABEENBEZ

10% increase/(decrease) in
WACC would result in
(decrease)/increase in fair
value by approximately
(HK$216,000)/HK$240,000
(2023: (HK$225,000)/
HK$250,000)

T E AN AL N,
CRA)10% - < ARnE
BCRD) /E I
(216,000 7T) /
240,000/ 7T
(ZEZ=%":
(225,000 7T) /
250,000/ JT.)

AEERBESHRAFNALEHEEDN
HEBB L EMET -



The preparation of financial statements requires the
use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also
needs to exercise judgement in applying the
Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated.
They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that
may have a financial impact on the entity and that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and the
historical experience of selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in consumer preferences and competitor
actions in response to severe industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimations by each
date of the statement of financial position to ensure
inventories are shown at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Fa B RRME

BAEVBHRRALET G BRR
E ARG RIESRERER -8
BRHEERAAEEN S BREIELH
B o

5t R HIE T 15 B AT 4G - B R AT RHI
DERBELRIEMBRAREL - B1FA
ERUHEBEANMBZERRERARSSE
BHARREHED -

FENAERFESNABERBBEFTH
B EBERGTHERX - ZFH IR
EHEROUERN B MR M EERE
b R EREEEE R RBEFETF
FEH B IR TR BHIMITE M LR KR
- BEEEENSEMBARREKAERF
I F e UERF AR AR &I
FEMEZENBREESR -

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]

145



146

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GAHBRENE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 ZHEH
Information reported to the directors of the MARNBES(ANEELEARARE) ZHMN
Company, being the chief operating decision-maker, ETERIERFHNERNBRERNKER
for the purposes of resource allocation and Sl DB ADHT ©
assessment focuses on the revenue analysis by
products.

Other than the Group’s results and financial position BRTAEBEMNBRBEERT BRI - W
as a whole, no other discrete financial information is EREEMB TP EERABETGSEA
provided for the assessment of different business AEBKEH EHit E2ETEBERRK
activities. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosures, BECOFTERFPRHMEER-

major customers and geographic information are

presented.

(a)  The Group’s revenues from its major products forthe (@) HE_ZE-_WNFEK_ZT_=F+_A
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as =+—HLEFE AEEXREEHFZEEM
follows: ZWAEHIIT

2023
—E g —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Thin film transistor liquid crystal display SEEE #iE R R EE A
panels and modules Wi&ﬁ%ﬂ 40,161 83,992

Optics products JEE M 25,594 4,994

Electronic signage BEFEER 12,997 14,029

Health-related products i B AR BE E S 12,799 18,209

Others H 1,054 3,031

92,605 124,255

(b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical (b) EEFHIEMNEE D H D LU A

location

The amount of the Group’s revenue from external
customers by locations where the Group’s products
are delivered to its customers is shown in the table
below.

AEBREANEPRNEMOMEE DM
SNHEPHEERAZBER TRIIR -

2023
—E-=%

HK$'000

FHE T

Hong Kong BB 83,607 111,507
Mainland China R OK B 5,251 10,007
Taiwan =y 3,747 2,741
92,605 124,255
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GeMBRRME

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

()  The Group has one major customer who has
contributed 10% or more of the total revenue for
the year ended 31 December 2024. Revenue from
that customer is disclosed as follow:

5 2HEME

() HEZZE-_WNF+_A=+—HILFE"
AEBAE—NUITBEFHEAEEZLKA
10% A E - REZUEFHWRABEDN

=

2024
—ENmF

HK$’000
THERT

Customer A

A

24,610

HK$'000
TATT

2,613

(d)  An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets (other

than financial

assets and deferred

income tax

assets) by location of assets is as follows:

d REEUE AKEZIERBEE(TE
REMEERELCMEHERE) MWT :

Mainland
Hong Kong China Taiwan Total
BB o B K BE =9 ] 45t
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-W&
+=ZHA=+—H
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and E YR
equipment 539 4 145 688
Intangible assets mEEE 4,200 1,122 — 5,322
4,739 1,126 145 6,010
As at 31 December 2023 RZ-ZT=-=
+=A=+—8H
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and ME - B REE
equipment — 10 159 169
Intangible assets mEEE 4,200 1,122 = 5,322
4,200 1,132 159 5,491
6 REVENUE 6 WA
Revenue represents the sales of display products, WABHERETER X2EQRABEE

optics products and related electronic components,

health-related products and other

external parties.

products to

FEM - REMABEMMEMERTINR

ALTFBEA -

BxXEBMRAF 2024 FR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GAHBRENE
7 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 7 HM(EE)WE
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Fair value changes in financial asset at AR EBEFFAEBZFZ
FVTPL TREEAABEESD (19,207) 10,647
Government subsidies B8 7 B 684 197
Net exchange (losses)/gains [N (BB WaFE (257) 71
Others HAh (38) 41
(18,818) 10,956
8 EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 BRMHEIEINEH
Cost of sales, distribution and selling expenses, HEKRAKA HHEERHEEREZ  —MBRITH
general and administrative expenses and research AERMAREEAERZSTOAT
and development expenses are analysed as follows:
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Cost of inventories sold (Note 20) $HE 17 B A AN (M 5E20) 79,778 104,375
Processing and sub-contracting MIRINBER
expenses 149 368
Transportation expenses EWER 697 1,485
(Reversal of provision)/provision for MEFE (BERRE),
obsolete inventories (Note 20) #4# (F1sE20) (122) 1,333
Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR B &
— Audit services — B R 875 875
— Non-audit services — FBEFHRHB 236 130
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) B BRA A (f59) 22,595 24,713
Depreciation of property, plant and W WEREZBEITE
equipment (Note 14) (P 5E14) 151 79
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEE (HF15)
(Note 15) 122 4,196
Lease expenses not included in the WIS ABERESEY
measurement of lease liabilities HEMZ (M 3E15)
(Note 15) 2,512 2,067
Provision for impairment of right-of-use {5 3 4 & 2 il (B # 1
assets (Note 15) (Bt 3E15) 387 3,363
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GeMBRRME

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EETEFMX
2024 2023
—H_NF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
87 Fin
Short-term employee benefits (Note (a)) %5 B3 1E & 18 7 (Fff 5% (a)) 21,645 23,583
Post-employment benefits & B iR IK1E T
— defined contribution plans — EREMHREE
(Note (b)) (B 5% (b)) 950 1,130
Total employee benefit expenses, EERNHAZHEE BEE
including directors’ remuneration =g 22,595 24,713
Notes: B 5
(a) Short-term employee benefits include salary, wages, bonus (a) RHEERMEEINTREREF S T8 %
paid to employees, and insurance premium for staff e REIRBTENORE -
insurance schemes.
(b) Post-employment benefits — defined contribution plans (b) BEEAKEN — EREMER S
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no forfeited ﬁé:g:ﬂfi"':ﬁ Ej'_”E'\lthg LS
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its ) Fﬁ_?& 02 W EY B 3R A HIR ﬁﬁ 5 &9 5
contributions for the current year (2023: Nil), there is no N (:?:\Zﬁ : ﬂ; FR I AOL U O K
forfeited contributions available at the year-end to reduce AT A S HRR 2R
future contributions.
©  Five highest paid individuals © HREZEHFAL
The five individuals whose remuneration were the highest in FRA % heBRFMATRENRES
the Group for the year include four directors (2023: four) (=% = &) 3R MR I 4P
whose remuneration are reflected in the analysis shown in BHOAMETR - FARMNBT—R(ZF==
Note 34. The emoluments payable to the remaining one Fr—B)ALTZHMEMT

(2023: one) individual during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

el 3 —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHE T

Basic salaries, other allowances and benefits in kind EA&R TE& « EAh 28 L EWEF) 1,644 1,644
Contribution to pension scheme RIRETEIH R 18 18

1,662 1,662




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBRRME

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The number of highest paid non-director individuals whose
remunerations for the year fell within the following bands:

BRERBMNREX (&)

MiEE ()
(© hEEEHAL(E)
ANEEFWNTUATHENFEEGSFH

e &E
1,500,001 7T £2,000,000% T

Emolument bands:
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

ALTWAZOT
2024 2023
1 1

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no remuneration
(20283: Nil) was paid by the Group to the directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office, and no arrangement under which a director or the
five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
of the remuneration.

10 FINANCE COSTS, NET 10

HE_T-_NWF+-_A=+—HIEFE X%
BERMEFTXRERETMA T A EMMET
B EAEMAREB K REISKBEREEE -
EAMNEEFNAEAERFMALIHREXRRE
MEFHOLHE(CTE_=F #)-

M%E MR

2024 2023
—ZE_mE —_EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FE T
Finance income B 75 A
__Interest income on bank deposits BITERZFBMA 104 280
Finance costs 81 7% & F
Interest expenses on: NTEEZ2AMERXE
Bank loan |ITE N (150) (169)
Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEa&(E1s5) (79) (152)
Factoring charges REER - (4)
e — (229 (825)
Finance costs, net BB RFE (125) (45)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11

Taxation on profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profits for the year at the
applicable rates of taxation prevailing in the
countries/places in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The amount of income tax charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

GeMBRRME

FRERR X

FAMNBEZBIAD LG &R B LA
SELEMENBRER RBETERAN
o ERBEARBAN - 28 REGIRE

= o
>t

REEBEHRS KBNS HEEE

represents:
2024 2023
—E g —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Current income tax EHAEM
— Over-provision of prior year’s — LAIFEEZR
Hong Kong profits tax BEMNEFH (37) -
Deferred income tax (Note 26) IR AT 1S B (Bt 3526) 72 10
Income tax expense FrigBiA X< 35 10

The income tax on the Group’s loss before income
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the tax rate applicable to the Group as

AEERBATERATEERNMEHEE R
AEEBRNBEREENERSBEEME
£ -BAEBHOT:

follows:
2024 2023
11 -3 —E=Z=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Loss before income tax bR AT1S T AT B 1B (43,606) (20,710)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong tax BB ER16.5%TENH
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) H(ZEZ=%:16.5%) (7,195) (3,417)
Tax effects of: NTEENMBEE
— Different taxation rate in — Htha ) ZEERE TR
other jurisdictions = 32 19
— Income not subject to tax — BAZH KA (121) (1,839)
— Expenses not deductible for — FA{EHIB A&
tax purposes 2 3,103 6
— Over-provision in prior year — AR R HBERE (37) -
— Tax losses for which no — WEBEREEREH
deferred income tax asset BEENTKIAEIE
was recognised 4,253 5,241
Income tax expense st 35 10

BxXEBMRAF 2024 FR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBRRME

12 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER
SHARE

Basic loss per share for the year is calculated by
dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

12

BEREXAREBEESR

FANEBREABBEIDRARGERFTE
AETEEETEK%MiWE%’*ﬁ Frlieg=pi::d

FHBEE

2024 2023
—EB-mF —ZEZ=F
Loss attributable to equity holders of the 7R A Al 5B A B
Company (HK$’000) BB (TH ) (42,906) (19,104)
Weighted average number of ordinary B 217 % &M% 2 h0#E
shares in issue (thousands) g (F %) 1,483,687 1,483,687
Basic and diluted loss per share EREAREEEER
(HK cents per share) (BB (2.89) (1.29)

For the purpose of determining the diluted loss per
share amount, no adjustment has been made to the
basic loss per share amount for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 as the Group had no

REETEREEERMS AR

A
25

£H

Q
N

BE_T_WER_ZFT_=%F+_A

=t —HLEFEIELMD BT

TEEEE

BEE BUBRZEFE2INNEHRE

=]
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during REEBIELAZE-
these years.
13 SUBSIDIARIES 13 B2
The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at RZEB_MER T _=F+HA=+—
31 December 2024 and 2023: BNEEMBARHINMT
Proportion of Proportion of
ordinary ordinary
shares  Proportion of shares  Proportion of
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued  directly held ordinary  directly held ordinary
establishment and Principal activities and place share capital/paid up by the  shares held by the  shares held
Name kind of legal entity of operation capital Company by the Group Company by the Group
AAREE x5E ARAFEE A5E
AR/ RLEER BRTREA/ FEZEEBR BAZEER KEZLER BHZEER
28 ERERER TEXBRBEHE BARAEE t Al te Al b 6 LBl
(%) (%) (%) (%)
2023 2023
—T-=F ZT-=F
Rightone Resources Limited British Virgin Islands (‘BVI),  Investment holding 10,000 ordinary shares at 100 100 100 100
limited liability company no par value
Rightone Resources Limited RERNBEE((RBRELE RARK 10,000 BEEE B R
ENERAR
Shinwa Technology Limited BV, limited liability company  Holding of patents 1 ordinary share at no - 100 - 100
par value
MENRERLA ERRABEERDA RBEEN 1 A% Bk
Sinosky Resources Limited BV, limited liability company  Investment holding 1 ordinary share at no - 100 - 100
par value
Sinosky Resources Limited HERZESHERAR BERR 1RERELRR
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

1]

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity

MR/ RLBER
HERERER

Principal activities and place
of operation

TEXBRBEDLY

13 i & 2 =

Proportion of

ordinary

shares

Particulars of issued  directly held
share capital/paid up by the
capital Company
FRREE

BRATREG/ BEZERAR
BARARE t
(%)

2024

“E-omE

Dexing Investment Limited
Dexing Investment Limited
Yuan Tai Investment Limited

HAREBRAA

Perfect Display Limited

EXBTERDA

Perfect Sky Technology Limited

EXMRERDA

Yuan Mei Xin Technology
(Shenzhen) Company
Limited

EXERR(RINERLE

Yuan Tian Technology
(Shenzhen) Company
Limited

BEXHHE RN BRAT

Yuan Tai Electronics Company
Limited

Perfect Shiny Technology
Limited
ERMRERAR

BVI, limited liability company
EERABEERAA
Samoa, limited liability

company

BEZERAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BEERAT

Hong Kong, limited liability

company

BEERAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

PEARAT

The PRC, limited liability
company

PEARAT

Taiwan, limited liability
company

REERRA
Samoa, limited liability

company
BEEGERAA

Investment holding
REZR
Investment holding

RARR

Trading of display panels
and related electronic
components in Hong
Kong

REBHERTARRAR
EF UK

Electronic product
application development
in Hong Kong

RERENETERER
kS

Wholesaling, import and
export of display panels
and related electronic
components and
provision of technical
support and related
services in the PRC

RO EEEBETARRAR
BEFHM4asE £Q
RO SRR BT
XEREBRS

Research and development,
provision of technical
support and related
services in the PRC

R BT RRHE R %I
RIEE RS

Design, development and
sales of electronic
products in Taiwan

REERE RRRHEE
FER

Investment holding

REER

1 ordinary share at no -
par value

1REDELBR

100 ordinary shares of -
USD1 each

100 BREEIET
LBk

38,000,000 ordinary -
shares

38,000,000% & i@

1 ordinary share -

1REBR

USD1,000,000 -

1,000,000% 70

USD100,000 -

100,000% 7T

500,000 ordinary shares -
of TWD10 each

500,000 SR EE
HABIOTHERR

500,000 ordinary shares -
of USD1 each
500,000 F R EE
XL EBR

(&

Proportion of

ordinary
Proportion of shares  Proportion of
ordinary  directly held ordinary
shares held by the  shares held
by the Group Company by the Group
& ARAER S 3
BEZEBR KEZEER HAZEER
el b 6 iq]
(%) (%) (%)
2024 2023 2023
- Sl T4 -T-=4
100 - 100
100 - 100
100 = 100
100 - 100
100 - 100
100 - 100
100 = 100
100 = 100
BXXEARAA 2024 £
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 13 MERAR (&
Proportion of Proportion of
ordinary ordinary
shares  Proportion of shares  Proportion of
Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued  directly held ordinary  directly held ordinary
establishment and Principal activities and place share capital/paid up by the  shares held by the  shares held
Name kind of legal entity of operation capital Company by the Group Company by the Group
FRREE & ARAER S 3
EMRL/ RIEER BRATREG/ BECERR RAEZEER KBECEER BAZLER
28 ERERER TEEBREELY BARARE t el b 6 tfl
(%) (%) (%) (%)
2024 2023 2023
—E-mE 8- Tz CZEBE-=%
Perfect Shiny Technology (HK) ~ Hong Kong, limited liabilty ~ Design, development and 1 ordinary share - 100 - 100
Limited company sales of applied
optics-related products
in Hong Kong
EHRE(FE)BRAA EEBRAR EEERG FERBER 1RETBR
AABER
Perfect Shiny Technology The PRC, limited liability Sales, research and RMB1,000,000 - 100 - 100
(Shenzhen) Limited company development of
optics-related products
in the PRC
AR GRINERRA PEERRA ROBEHERMELEEE ARS1,000,0007
Em
Skyteam Resources Limited BV, limited liability company  Investment holding 1 ordinary share at no - 100 - 100
par value
Skyteam Resources Limited RERXESARAR BREER 1RERELRR
Naruto Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liabity ~ Not yet commenced 10,000,000 ordinary - 100 - 100
company business shares
BRRRERAE ERERRRA FARER 10,000,000/ & i ik
Perinnova Limited BV, limited liability company  Investment holding 10,000 ordinary shares at - 62 - 62
no par value
Perinnova Limited ABRAFEARRT REZR 10,000 E A E £ B K
Perfect Intelligent Technology ~ Hong Kong, limited liabilty ~ Design, development and 10,000 ordinary shares - 62 - 62
Limited company sales of digital

information signage and
electronic shelf display
products in Hong Kong

and Taiwan
EXBRENHERAR ERERRRA REERAER FAER 100008 % &K
HERBERRRETF
ERRTRER
Fayeking Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Design, development and 10,000 ordinary shares - 100 - 100
company sales of environmental-

friendly products and

sale of health-related

products in Hong Kong
RYMZBERLA EEERAA REBR HERHEER 10,000RERK

REMRHEERRRR

Em
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GeMBRRME

14 ME BERRE

Furniture and

Leasehold  Moulds and office Motor
improvements machinery  equipment vehicles Total
BER
HERTHE HAREE BAZRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THT THT T
At 1 January 2023 R=-Z-=f-A-H
Cost PR 3,051 1,854 2,405 4,583 11,893
Accumulated depreciation 2EHME (3,033) (1,854) 2,319) (4,583) (11,789)
Net book amount ERFE 18 = 86 = 104
Year ended HE-E-=%
31 December 2023 +ZA=+-BLEE
Opening net book amount FNRERE 18 = 86 = 104
Additions NE - - 144 - 144
Depreciation charge (Note 8) FEZL (Hs) 9 - (70) - (79
Closing net book amount FREEFE 9 = 160 = 169
At 31 December 2023 R=B==%
tZA=1-H
Cost AR 3,067 1,871 2,221 4,589 11,748
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (3,058) (1,871) (2,061) (4,589) (11,579)
Net book amount REFE 9 S 160 = 169
Year ended BHE-E-mE
31 December 2024 +=A=+-BLEE
Opening net book amount FNERETE 9 - 160 - 169
Currency translation differences ~ HMEFEER - - 4] - (7
Additions RE - - 55 622 677
Depreciation charge (Note 8) FEX M (s ) - (59) (83) (151)
Closing net book amount FREEFE - - 149 539 688
At 31 December 2024 R=Z2=-n%
+=A=+-H
Cost AR 2,956 1,755 2,178 3,372 10,261
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE (2,956) (1,755) (2,029) (2,833) (9,573)
Net book amount REFE - - 149 539 688
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FEMBRRME

15 LEASES

15

This note provides information for leases where the

Group is a lessee.

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (a)

of financial position

HE

M FREREERAEANEEER -

REEUMBRAREINEE

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET

Right-of-use assets — Properties FHEEE — W%
As at 1 January Hn—B—H — 4,261
Additions NE 509 3,308
Depreciation expense (Note 8) E R (M &E8) (122) (4,196)
Exchange realignment b % & - (10)
Provision for impairment (Note 8) B H 8 (P 5E8) (387) (3,363)
As at 31 December R+=—BA=+—H — =

Lease liabilities HEEE

As at 1 January m—B—H 3,407 4,347
Additions = 509 3,308
Interest expense FERX 79 152
Payments of principal element SRR E S (3,025) (4,238)
Payments of interest element S A B E S (79) (152)
Exchange realignment RS (6) (10)
As at 31 December Rt+t=-—A=+-—8 885 3,407
Current R E 869 2,784
Non-current FE B 16 623
885 3,407




Fa B RRME

PHEBERERATEEERES

ki

The consolidated statement of comprehensive

income shows the following amounts relating to ]
leases:
2023
—E-=4
HK$’000
FET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEEZNESH
assets — Properties (Note 8) — W% (M 7E8) 4,196
Provision for impairment of right-of-use {# FB # & & (B & &
assets (Note 8) (f7E8) 3,363
Interest expense (Note 10) M B RS (M sE10) 162

Expense relating to short-term leases %2 B A & 48 79 B = (Kt 318)

(Note 8) 1,801
Expense relating to leases of AR EXETRAREHEE

low-value assets that are not shown MEEBEEEHSHEHH

above as short-term leases (Note 8) 2 (M7E8) 20
Expense relating to variable lease WHERAAHEA G A]#

payments not included in lease HENZIEEMAS

liabilities (Note 8) (MF3E8) 246

BHE_EZ-_WE+-_A=+—HLEE -
TREEEENAEEFNELD DR A
3,025,000 7T (—ZF = = £ : 4,238,000/
70) }79,000/% 7T (= & — = £ : 152,000
BIT) e

MHEERMEEEEERENNRARES
I - ERERNEEMAREFETRR
s EElI— |-

The payments of principal and interest element of
leases liabilities during the year ended 31 December
2024 were HK$3,025,000 (2023: HK$4,238,000) and
HK$79,000 (2023: HK$152,000) respectively.

Payments for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets were not shown separately, but
included in the line of “loss before income tax” in
respect of the net cash used in operations.

Management has performed impairment assessment EREHERAREEETRENG WU
on right-of-use assets and determined their NAEEREERA (TR EER©LEK
recoverable amounts by the higher of fair value less RDEFHAEEMEFNRSEEEHA
costs of disposal (“FVLCD”) and value in use. WES5E - BB EHRARREFeRHEHH

Management applied the cash flows forecast (“DCF”)
which covers the remaining lease terms to
determine the recoverable amounts under FVLCD
methods. Based on the results of management’s
impairment assessment, provision for impairment on
right-of-use assets of HK$387,000 was made for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2028:
HK$3,363,000). Discount rates used by
management in the DCF are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the related cash-generating
units.

ReReBAE(REeRSTBEAE]) RE
EARBEBDERAEE TR KE €
Ho-REBEEEEMNRANGHER Bz
E_NF+_A=+—HIEFER FH
B ERMERE /387,000 T (ZE ==
F:3,863,0008 ) EREARERE
FEASERFEAMBER X AHAIREEX K
MEERecEEASEMNMSERR -

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]
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FEMBRRME

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 B &EE
Club
memberships
e
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 January 2023 R=-—TB-=%—-—HA—H
Cost B A 5,322
Accumulated impairment REHRE =
Net book amount BREFE 5,322
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=F+-A=1+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount FURMFE 5,322
Impairment charge B AE —
Closing net book amount HREREFE 5,322
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=ZH+ZA=+—8H
Cost BX A 5,322
Accumulated impairment 2ErRAE —
Net book amount BEmEFE 5,322
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE2-—m&E—HF—H
Cost B A 5,322
Accumulated impairment REHRE -
Net book amount BREFE 5,322
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-ZE-_NFE+-A=1+—HLEFE
Opening net book amount FURMFE 5,322
Impairment charge B E -
Closing net book amount HREREFE 5,322
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-Z@mE+=ZA=+—8H
Cost B A 5,322
Accumulated impairment 2ErRE -
Net book amount BREFE 5,322

The Group’s intangible assets as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 comprise membership rights with
indefinite useful life and are stated at cost less any

impairment losses.

Management applied FVLCD by using the market

approach when determining the

recoverable

amounts. During the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, no impairment was made in relation

to the membership rights.
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REMKRERNME
17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 17 RENEITHWEMIT A
CATEGORY
The Group holds the following financial instruments AREBR - ZE-_NER-_ZE-_=F+_4
at 31 December 2024 and 2023: =+—HBRETIE@MIA:
2024 2023
—E-MF —_EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHE T
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: R A RS BR A
TRVEE
Trade and other receivables JE WS AR 3R R E b B IR 3,627 6,398
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 24,407 47,372
Financial asset at FVOCI EAnBEIFAEMEZE
KRz emEE 1,368 1,500
Financial asset at FVTPL BAREBEFTAEBRZ
CHEE 16,641 35,848
46,043 91,118
Financial liabilities cRBE
Liabilities at amortised cost: REHEKATERNEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR 0 R HL fh E AF 3R 5,428 15,141
Bank loan RITE X 3,809 4,519
Lease liabilities HEEE 885 3,407
10,122 23,067
The Group’s exposure to various risks associated AEEABRNESH T AEBENSERR
with the financial instruments is detailed in note 3. HHNMAS - EPRNEAREERR
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of ArigEsREENRTE-

the reporting period is the carrying amount of each
class of financial assets mentioned above.
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FEMBRRME

18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 18 BAAREEFTAEMEZEKRSE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

The Group’s financial asset at FVOCI comprises the
Group’s equity investment in certain ordinary shares
issued by a private company principally engaged in
the research and development, manufacturing and
sale of separator which is a key component in
lithium battery, representing an approximately 0.96%
(20283: 0.96%) shareholding of such company. The
balance is denominated in TWD. Such equity
investment is not held for trading and the Group
considered it as a strategic investment. The Group
has irrevocably elected at initial recognition this
investment to recognise as financial asset at FVOCI.

CEMEE

REFBREARBEAAEMEEKI 2 S
MEERREAEER —BRLART T
ETERBROBRERE  OEHZAF
0.96%HE(Z T - =F :0.96%) * &L
ARBIEZENERE  HWENEEREE
(BESHNETERD) - BHUFTEBE
B lERERETERRZ S NEER
AU TIERERE c AEBENBEBRARD
TR R EER AR AR BEIA
Hih MWz MEE -

2024 2023

11 -3 ZEZ=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FER FAT

Balance at 1 January R—B—Hz&t 1,500 1,300
Fair value changes recognised in other REMEE U EANER 2

comprehensive income AREBEEEZS (132) 200

Balance at 31 December Rt+-ZA=+—HBz&& 1,368 1,500

160

On disposal of such equity investment, any related
balance within the revaluation reserve is reclassified
to retained earnings/(accumulated losses).
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The balance of the Group’s financial asset at FVTPL
as at 31 December 2023 comprised the holding of
certain preferred shares (“Preferred Shares”) in
Mobvoi Inc. (“Mobvoi”), a company principally
engaged in the rendering of artificial intelligence
software solutions and sale of smart devices to
enterprise and individual customers. The Group’s
shareholding proportion in Mobvoi was
approximately 1.57% as at 31 December 2023. The
balance was denominated in USD. There have been
no addition to or disposal of such investment since
the Group made the investment in January 2015.
No dividend has been received by the Group from
Mobvoi since its investment. During the vyear,
Mobvoi completed the initial public offering (the
“Mobvoi IPO”) of its ordinary shares (the “Mobvoi
Shares”) and the Mobvoi Shares were listed on the
Stock Exchange in April 2024. Meanwhile, the
Preferred Shares held by the Group were converted
to 25,218,220 Mobvoi Shares upon closing of the
Mobvoi IPO. The Group’s shareholding proportion in
Mobvoi was approximately 1.66% as at
31 December 2024. Depending on the prevailing
market conditions, the Group may from time to time
dispose of up to all of the Mobvoi Shares held, the
amount has therefore been classified as current
assets as at 31 December 2024.

Fa B RRME

AREBZEARBEFABZZEMEER
—E-=FE+ - A=+—-BRE8BeERE
BHFMEMBAERAR (THMABEE)ETE
SRR ([EARKR])  EFPEBMAETERER
TENMBAATFPRMEA LTI GR RS
ENHEERERENRR R T -=F
+-A=+—8 > AEEELMAMBENE
A% B 1 40 B1.57% © 2 458 A E JoetH A o
BEAEER-_ZT—RAF— AEEZEREN
RKoBRRETEENKTEE  SERE
LAZR  AEB AL E H PR B UREE K
B -RAFE HMFBBE=RTEEER
([HFMMBEEN D ERAREE (THM
MEEXARBE]) BEPBBEAN R
“E-NFEARBRATET - R A
SEHFENEERANMEEE XA ARE
€ &R 12 E R A25213,2200% H P9 R AR
R EBE-_NF+_A=+—H K&
B 7EH P B AR B4 51.66% ° 1R
BIRITMEBRL ASEAJETHHER
Z2MBENEPABERG  AitkizssH
ER_E_NE+_A=1+—BHOEA
MEEE °

2023

—E-=%F

HK$’000

FAT

Balance at 1 January R—A—B2z&E& 25,201
Fair value changes recognised in other R H b (E518) Uk %58

(losses)/gains, net FHEZNAALBEEZD 10,647

Balance at 31 December RT+ZBA=+—Bz#&& 35,848

Current Vi) -

Non-current FE 7 35,848

35,848

Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk
is provided in note 3.1. For information about the
methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value see note 3.3.

B B 7 & 1B [ b 0 (B AR L B 0 B R BB A
B1-AAEERAABEMNTERBRA
8 B2 RMESS

B=xXEARKRLT 2024 F]
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REMBRERMT

20 INVENTORIES 20 &
2024 2023
11 -3 ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F& T FAT
Finished goods FE X d 19,303 32,625
Less: Provision for obsolete inventories & : FR & 17 & & 5 (14,243) (14,718)
5,060 17,907

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and
included in “cost of sales” amounted to
HK$79,778,000 (2023: HK$104,375,000) for the year
(Note 8).

Reversal of provision for obsolete inventories of
HK$122,000 (2023: provision for obsolete
inventories HK$1,333,000) was recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
respect of the net amount of the provision/write
back of provision for obsolete inventories, loss on
obsolete inventories, utilisation of provision for
obsolete inventories and write-down of inventories to
their net realisable values for the year. These
amounts have been included in cost of sales in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The movement of provision for obsolete inventories
included write-off of provision for obsolete
inventories of HKS$Nil (2023: HK$3,004,000) and
exchange realignment of HK$353,000 (2023:
HK$60,000).
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AREEERAEMI LT ATHEERA]INT
B KR 579,778,000 T (— T — = F ¢
104,375,00078 7T ) (Fff 5¥8) °

AEERFANBRERETERE BER
O -BREFTEEE HAREFTEEER
MRTFEEH & iﬁ/?fﬁm/%%ﬁfmﬁAZ*A
PEKERERRETERGRD
122,0008 T (ZE_=F : REGFTERE
1,333,000/ 7T) ° ;Zi‘;?xlﬁe.#)\w:.
MR EROEEKXARET

BREFEREBEZ2EHDIERET EREHM
/)ﬁﬁfﬁm(_ = —_i 3004000/%7E)
N [E H ¥4 353,000 T(Z B - =5
60,000/ JT) °
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21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21

GeMBRRME

FE W AR R R EL At B WK

2024 2023
—®_NF -

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Trade and bills receivables (Note () FEUW R SR R B (M 5% (a)) 1,764 3,772
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - 2E R E A E SR

receivables 3,107 4172

4,871 7,944

Trade and bills receivables are amounts due from
customers for merchandise sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as

RUEFEEESELTEZBREFTEH
& 7 on S HR (AR G T FE U P O SRR © i
JE U R R B EL At M R TR AT E — FF sk — 5
UAGERHRER  MELRXBEL
BHRKDE AIBEARBEE-&
8 IS BIEREEE - RKRERZT R EAM

U RZIR A BEER BERXBE
BRA X RBHEA AR EREREBTE -

current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets. Trade and other receivables are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less allowance for impairment.

Notes:

FEE—RIRH0EIORNEEY - REUE
FEE ENEBUEARRBENREDMAT -

(a) The Group generally grants credit periods of 30 to 90 days. (a)
The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables based on
invoice date is as follows:

2023
—E=-=

HK$’'000
FE T
0-30 days 0-30K 1,077 3,063
31-60 days 31-60K 423 419
61-90 days 61-90K 48 112
Over 90 days 90K A £ 216 178
1,764 3,772

(b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade and bills (b) RZZE-ZME+-A=+—B X£EECEHH

receivables of HK$687,000 (2023: HK$709,000) were past
due. The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that
were past due is as follows:

) JE U BE 3% I B 4% 2687,0008 (T = =
£F 1 709,000 T) - B EKRER R Z &
KRR THT

2023
—E-=F
HK$’'000
FHT

Amounts past due i HA ke
1-30 days 1-30K 423 419
31-60 days 31-60K 48 112
61-90 days 61-90K 91 150
Over 90 days 90K M £ 125 28

687 709
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FEMBRRME

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21 FEWERAKREMEWRR (&)
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) Bt & ()

RRECHMBERERRRR  ASEDERZ RSB
EERE EATREINEEER  FEHEHEES
B-REGENE  BRUEAREENEREERE
REAT - ANRZERUERRERERELNE

For these past due trade and bills receivables, the Group has
assessed the expected credit losses by considering historical
default rates, existing market conditions and forward-looking
information. Based on the assessment, ECL rate of trade and bills

receivables is close to zero. Therefore, the loss allowance provision BEEITTEKX-
for these trade and bills receivables balances was not material.
(c) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other (c) AEBRWRR M EMERZ ZREERNA
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: TE®E:
2024 2023
—EB-MEF —ZT=-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET F& T
HK$ BT 2,557 3,526
uUsD E 1,448 2,494
RMB AR 672 1,485
TWD e 194 439
4,871 7,944
(d) Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their (d) AREHEKRAREEEE  ERREERRA
carrying amounts are considered to be the same as their HEQAREEER -
fair values.

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22 HERBRESEEY

2024
—F_NF

HK$°000
TET

Bank balances and cash RITEBR LTS

24,407

2023
—E=%F
HK$’000
FHET

47,372

The carrying amounts of the Group’s total bank
deposits, bank balances and cash are denominated
in the following currencies:

AEBRTER  RITEHKRRRES ZKRE

BERTHEEFE :

2024 2023
—E_mEF —E-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FHET

UsD ETT 9,856 15,818
RMB AR #& 7,745 11,500
HK$ BT 6,556 19,404
TWD e 250 650
24,407 47,372




Bank balance of HK$7,587,000 (2023:
HK$13,205,000) are held in the mainland China and
are subject to local exchange control regulation.
These local exchange control regulations impose
restrictions on exporting capital from the mainland
China, other than through normal dividends.

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

FT e
5 it

& A%0.017E 7T

Fa B RRME

iR 17 17 3K & £% A7,587,000% JT (2023 :
13,205,000 70) IR R Bl KBEHF - I
X EHAINE B BHEH LR - ZEE HHMNE
BB IRBIR B Br BB EFEREIN AP E
AEERES -

31 December 2024 and 2023

—ENER-EC-=
+=—A=+—H
Number of shares Amount
B EE oL
(thousands) HK$’000
(FR%) FHE T
5,000,000 50,000

Number of Ordinary shares
shares of HK$0.01 each

BEREBER
B EBE 0.01% 7t
HK$’000
FAT
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R—_E-_=F—H—H -
1 January 2024 and ZEZ=F+=A
31 December 2024 =+—A ZT-lmF
—A—BERZE-_NF
+=-ZA=+—H 1,483,687,151 14,837

There were no movements in the Company’s share

capital during the year (2023: Nil).

FRA ARABRAREEFMESH(ZF

TZFE)

BEXETHERAT 2024 F3R
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FEMBRRME

24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24 PEATEEER X H fth FE 13 2K
2024 2023
—E-MEF —ZF=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T FHE T
Trade payables (Note (a)) FE AT BR 3R (B 5% (a) ) 101 7,717
Deposits received from customers WHRFIES 3,017 5,258
Accruals and other payables FE 5T R IE K E M FE 1 3K 5,132 6,059
8,250 19,034
Notes: Bt 5
(a) The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date (a) BEZXFZAHTENEMEROERR S TN
is as follows: T
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
0-30 days 0-30& 49 5,431
31-60 days 31-60K - 2,256
61-90 days 61-90K — —
Over 90 days 90K LA £ 52 30
101 7,717
(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other (b) 755 B B e AT BR R R EL b FE A A TN B B
payables are denominated in the following currencies: A
2023
—E-=
HK$’'000
F %I
HKS$ BT 3,118 3,188
usD EV 2,470 11,557
RMB AR 2,261 3,831
TWD ek 401 458
8,250 19,034
(© The carrying amounts of trade and other payables (© ERNERREMENRZEEERLARE

approximate their fair values. EEE -
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GeMBRRME

25 BANK LOAN

25 RITER

2024 2023

—E-mF —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
F& T FAT
Current portion EHE S 743 709
Non-current portion EE D 3,066 3,810
3,809 4,519

At 31

repayable as follows:

December,

the Group’s

bank loan was

R+—A=+—B AKERTERNE
BERWT

2023

HK$BOO

FHET

Within 1 year 16 AR 743 709
Between 1 and 2 years 1226 766 735
Between 2 and 5 years 2FE5F 2,300 2,370
Over 5 years 5% A — 705
3,809 4,519

The Group’s bank loan was obtained under the
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme launched by the
Government of HKSAR mature in 2029. The carrying
amount of the bank loan is denominated in HKS,
and carried at a floating interest rate of prime rate
minus 2.5% per annum.

The carrying amount of the Group’s bank loan as at
31 December 2024 approximated their fair values
since the interest payable on those bank loan is
close to current market rate.

The Group’s bank loan is secured by HKMC
Insurance Limited and personal guarantee from
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have
any unutilised bank facilities restricted for trade
finance purposes (2023: Nil).

Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from
bank loan are set out in Note 3.1.

AEBENRITERDREEBHRBUTH
HEyR/ NEREERASIERS  BIRE—
Z_NF - ZRTEFXNREAEAELR
B mFHFENREEENRE2.5E

B o
N

—E-ME+ZA=1+—8 AEER
TEFNEEESREAAGERE  BA
ZERTEZNEMFMEEZE AN TSR
9:_'_(0

B3

AEENRITEROATBRERBRERA
ARARBEEZRRBEERLENEALE
PRI -

R-IE-_WNE+_—_A=+—H AEEW
EAMBRRAEESREN RS AMIRT
EE(ZE=Z=F:8)-
AEBERAFEITE RRR O F BN
FE38.1 0

BxXEBMRAF 2024 FR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Y P ELE:
26 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 26 ELFEHEE (AF)
(LIABILITIES)
The movements in deferred income tax assets/ BN FARNMRBIETERBRELERS
(liabilities) in respect of accelerated tax depreciation MEE/ (AR EBHMOT
during the year are as follows:
2024 2023
—B-QlmF —T_=%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Beginning of the year F1 69 79
Charged to the consolidated statement 1[4 B#r4& & @ W% &
of comprehensive income (Note 11) (HF7E11) (72) (10)
End of the year FR 3) 69
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax BEMSHAEDRBAEBEE M
loss carry-forward to the extent that the realisation R+ MEBR F AR B8 B T8 A1) 58 7] [ R SR AR AR
of the related tax benefit through future taxable FBEFRBAgEE KT _WMF+ A
profits is probable. As at 31 December 2024, the =+ —H AEBWEER Ekﬁﬁﬁmﬁ
Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets E45,024,0008 (= T = = F:
of HK$45,024,000 (2023: HK$40,769,000) in respect 40,769,000 7T ) + ¥ K 2 T o B 22
of tax losses of certain PRC subsidiaries of KR IE & 187,094,000 T (ZE = = F ¢
HK$7,094,000 (2023: HK$8,122,000), which will 8,122 L0008 TT) (R AFEHB LK) UK
expire in five years, and tax loss of certain Hong ETBEBEWE 2R MO B BB R
Kong subsidiaries of HK$270,722,000 (2023: 270 722,000 (= T = &
HK$245,854,000) which will not expire under current 245,854,000/ 7t) (1R #& B A1 %R /f N=ES
tax legislation. ) o
27 DIVIDENDS 27 KA

The Board did not declare any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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28 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GeMBRRME

28 BEEmhEER

(@) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash (a)
used in operations

BRASHABEEKSENARES UK

2024 2023
—ENME —T-=%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
Loss before income tax % P15 1% Bl B 18 (43,606) (20,710)
Adjustments for: MUATHIEFE -
— Depreciation of property, — M¥E - -HEREZE
plant and equipment (Note 8) & (Mt sE8) 151 79
— Depreciation of right-of-use — FHREEENE
assets (Note 8) (FF5E8) 122 4,196
— (Reversal of provision)/provision - REFE (BERE)
for obsolete inventories (Note 8) /B & (P 5E8) (122) 1,333
— Finance income (Note 10) — BB A (FF3E10) (104) (280)
— Finance costs (Note 10) — &R (MiE10) 229 325
— Fair value changes on — BAnBEFAER
financial asset at FVTPL (Note 7) MNEMEELAR
BEZ(FF7) 19,207 (10,647)
— Provision for impairment of — RAEEERBERE
right-of-use assets (Note 8) (FfFzE8) 387 3,363
Operating loss before changes EEESBHAKEER
in working capital (23,736) (22,341)
Changes in working capital EEETEE
— Inventories - 55 12,883 2,502
— Trade and other receivables — BERERREM
& Us 3% 2,905 2,104
— Trade and other payables — B ERZR R EHA
FEAS R (9,479) (15,632)
Cash used in operations KEFMARS (17,427) (33,367)
(b)  This section sets out an analysis of net cash (b) FEHRIR-—ZB-_NEFR-Z-_=F+=

position as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

B=t-—BHNREFERRIN

2024 2023
—E-WF —ZE=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THE T FHAT
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) & NKIBRELZEY
(P 5E22) 24,407 47,372
Bank loan (Note 25) R 17 B 3 (P 7525) (3,809) (4,519)
Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEEE (ME15) (885) (3,407)
19,713 39,446




170

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMKRERME
28 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 28 MEeEREER (&
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing c) MEIBHFEEXEEBZHER
activities
Bank loan Lease liabilities Total
RITEX HESE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET
As at 1 January 2023 A\_E-=5-A—H 5,206 4,347 9,553
Cash flows Ren
— Payments of principal - YNAEEEAEEH
element of lease liabilities - (4,238) (4,238)
— Payments of interest - XNHEEBERNSHBH
element of lease liabilities - (152) (152)
— Repayments of bank loan - BEBITER (687) = 687)
Other non-cash movements HpEBRe28
— Addition of lease liabilities - EAHEEAR = 3,308 3,308
— Interest expenses on lease - HEBENFERE
liabilities = 152 152
— Exchange realignment - EXAR - (10) (10)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-E==
1 January 2024 +ZA=+-8AEk
—E-E—-A—H 4,519 3,407 7,926
Cash flows Ren
— Payments of principal - ZNHEEEAEHH
element of lease liabilities - (3,025) (3,025)
— Payments of interest - INHEEEMNEHRHD
element of lease liabilities - (79) (79)
— Repayments of bank loan - EEFTEX (710) - (710)
Other non-cash movements HppEBR 28
— Addition of lease liabilities - EAHEAR - 509 509
— Interest expenses on lease - HEEBENFERAX
liabilities - 79 79
— Exchange realignment - ERAR - 6) (6)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-mE
+=ZA=+-H 3,809 885 4,694
29 COMMITMENTS 29 AKiE

At 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant

capital expenditure contracted for
recognised as liabilities (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no
material contingent liabilities (2023: Nil).

ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no assets
pledged as securities (2023: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parent entity

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding
company is Winful Enterprises Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, and ultimately controlled by
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, a director of the Company.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 13.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes directors and senior
management. The compensation paid or payable to
key management for employee services is shown
below:

30

31

32

GeMBRRME

HREE

R-E-_WNE+_—_A=+—H AEEW
BEAKAREBBE(ZZT_ZF &) -

BERARBRERNEE

R-ZE-_WNE+_—_A=+—H AXEEW
EERRAERNEE(ZE_ZF 1 £)-

BEFRXS

SBARER

RRQFHEE R &EEER QR AWIinful

Enterprises Limited * EA—RNEBE K

HEAMKIN AR RARARESEE

125 AR o

Ft B A &l

RHTB ARz SR H 13-

FTEEEABSFHH
ZEBRANERREEFRAREERE -

BENRBECNIENIEEEABNH
BT

2024 2023
—E_NEF —ZT_=

HK$°000 HK$’000

FER T T

Short-term employee benefits (Note 34) & i1 & & A (M 5£34) 7,578 7,716
Post-employment benefits & B iR K t@ A

— defined contribution plans — EREHEREE 68 68

7,646 7,784

Guarantee provided by a substantial shareholder
and director

The Group’s bank loan as at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023 was secured by personal
guarantee from Mr. Cheng Wai Tak, a substantial
shareholder and director of the Company.

—EXTERRRESREHNER

AEBR-_ZE-_NF+-_A=+—8Hk=
E-=HF+ A=+ —HMRTEZHEN
AAEEREREETHEEEEHEAE
R IR -

BxXEBMRAF 2024 FR
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FEMBRRME

33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33 XA BRARRREEE
POSITION AND RESERVES )]
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@ AN AR BEAMRREK
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+—H
Note
B =F

Assets &=
Non-current assets IRBEE
__Interests in subsidiaries . WWBRAR 2w 46970 .. 89,965
Current assets REBEE

Other receivables A sk 203 311

Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEED 3,221 2,599
3424 2,910
Total assets EEHRE 50,394 92,875
Equity and liabilities EEREE
Equity attributable to equity holders A2 T FHE A

of the Company PE AL FE 2=

Share capital fi& 2= 14,837 14,837

Reserves 1 (b) 34,736 77,458
Total equity HW=@®& 49578 92,295
Liabilities 8&
Current liabilities FEBEE

Other payables N DN 821 580
Total liabilites ~ ®fE#&& 821 580
Total equity and liabilities EERkEEEHE 50,394 92,875

The statement of financial position of the Company
was approved by the Board of Directors on
25 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf.

Chang Huan Chia

RERE
Director

EF

ARAWFBEARARKRER T _AF=A
“tThHRHEFSHE IRKESFER
%0

Hsu Wai Man Helen

Director

EF
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FREUBRERMET
33 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33 AQNFMNHMBMRRARRFEHRES
POSITION AND RESERVES B (&)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) TARWREEES
Retained
earnings/
Share  Contributed (accumulated
premium surplus losses) Total
BrKE/
B R E MABH (RFER) @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TAL

(Note)
(B3
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—HF—H 465,738 136,082 12,660 614,480
Loss for the year FEEE = = (537,022) (537,022)
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F
1 January 2024 +ZA=+—-8k
—E-mE—-A—H 465,738 136,082 (524,362) 77,458
Loss for the year FEER - - (42,722) (42,722)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZWEF+-A=+—H 465,738 136,082 (567,084) 34,736
Note: Contributed surplus of the Company represents the Mie: ARBZHABRBREARBEEITRGOE
difference between the excess of the nominal value of the BEEREABAQNR EMmMET 2 EM MU
Company’s shares issued and the aggregate net asset ZHBARIZEEFEBH ZBEHER-

value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a
reorganisation for the listing of the Company.
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FEMBRRME

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 3 EBEzzEARER
DIRECTORS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@ EERTHAIZM=
The remuneration of every director and the chief FESERITHBH 2FHNAT :
executive is set out below:
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances to retirement
and benefits  Discretionary benefit
Fees in kind bonuses schemes Total
Fe RBER BEHEK
we BYER RERAL BRELRK @it
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HZ_-Z —M4F
+ZA=+—-BLLEE
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (Note 1) g E i 4 (M) — 4,200 — 18 4,218
Mr. Liu Ka Wing (Note 1) BREEE () - 636 - 18 654
Mr. Tse Ka Wing (Note 1) HRETE () — 1,440 — 18 1,458
Mr. Chang Huan Chia RERLE 240 230 - 14 484
Independent non-executive directors: BUHHTEE -
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John (Note 1, 2)  ® & & %&4 (Mi&E1-2) 56 — — — 56
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu (Note 1, 2) BEEBEE (HE - 2) 56 - - - 56
Mr. Kan Man Wai BXELEE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Cho Chi Kong (Note 3) B ROk (M EES) 120 - - - 120
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REHLLT 240 — — — 240
Mr. Lau Ngai Kee Ricky (Note 4) 215 5 5 4 (BT eE4) 120 - - - 120
1,072 6,506 - 68 7,646
For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE=E_-T - =
+tZA=+—HLEEE
Executive directors: HiTEE -
Mr. Cheng Wai Tak (Note 1) g iE s A (M) = 4,200 = 18 4,218
Mr. Liu Ka Wing (Note 1) BREEE(HE) = 636 — 18 654
Mr. Tse Ka Wing (Note 1) FRE K& (M) = 1,440 = 18 1,458
Mr. Chang Huan Chia RIEREE 240 240 = 14 494
Independent non-executive directors: B HEHTEE -
Mr. Wong Yik Chung John (Note 1) BEBEE M) 120 = = = 120
Mr. Wong Chi Chiu (Note 1) BERBEE (M) 120 — — — 120
Mr. Kan Man Wai BXERE 240 = = = 240
Mr. Cho Chi Kong EEREE 240 = = = 240
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen REHLT 240 = = - 240
1,200 6,516 - 68 7,784
Note 1: Suspended from duties as directors of the Company with W1 BEEEEAARRNESNRSE AR 2=
effect from 25 September 2020 TEEANA-T+HBRER
Note 2: Retired on 18 June 2024 W2 RZZTE-_mMEXA+N\BEME
Note 3: Resigned on 1 July 2024 BfaE3 - —WHFEEA—HET
Note 4: Appointed on 1 July 2024 s - R=ZFE-_MFELA—BHEEF
No directors waived or agreed to waive any MEEENFAREXREREZELMAHE
emoluments during the year (2023: Nil). —E=fF M\
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BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or
will receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company does not pay consideration to third parties
for making available directors’ service (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entitles with such
directors

As at 31 December 2024, there are no loans,
quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by
and controlled entities with such directors (2023:
Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

GeMBRRME

34 EBE2EANNRER (&

ESRERAEANRLKILERER

RBE_Z_MFEF+ _A=+—HL*F
€ - B AN N 5] 8 = YR EK A WA fT 2R
RKEMNIELRBERAN( T =4
) o

/AN

RRHESBRBEAF=TRE2KE

REBEE-_ZT_NMF+_A=+—HLHF
B ARRWERRHREERBE I HRE
FE=ZF(ZEZ_ZF &)

FRUES ZESEHEERRAESE
NEBRBERASZAZEN - EERRH
bR 5 2 &#

RZZBZME+-A=+—H #EAF
REZ REERHZEEREAZETESR
MABMERSYBAZER EERRHE
MXPLEH (T _=F: &)

EERXG  REIEHNERER

RERKFREAER - HEARAEE
EBZEARS  ZHRRAHNARRAR
—BRNAIRARBDEEHEBEEAER
(TRERLEEK) -
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Financial Summary

B R

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited

financial statements, is set out below.

AEENEEDEAMBFEFENREAREE
BUANEEREEME(BEAC NELER
MBHmE)HBMT

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEE

&8

i\

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
Sl — T ——fF —T-_—fF —TE-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT TAT TAT THATT TAT
Results E4
Revenue A 92,605 124,255 301,318 528,350 206,973
(Loss)/profit for the year % E (&1#8) /
attributable to: FMEEBERN:
Equity holders of the NN
Company BEA (42,906) (19,104) 4,038 (43,857) (16,883)
Non-controlling interests ~ FE4ER% i 25 (735) (1,616) (555) (1,229) (1,647)
(43,641) (20,720) 3,483 (45,086) (18,530)
As at 31 December
Wt=ZA=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
- Sl — T —F —T_— —E-—F —E-ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAT TAT TATT FHATT
Assets, liabilities and non- BE - &EK
controlling interests FERER
Total assets EELS 58,357 116,131 153,750 195,750 219,932
Total liabilities BEBE (12,947) (27,355) (44,412) (89,891) (68,816)
Non-controlling interests  JE4E A #E 25 4,163 3,519 1,903 1,451 245
49,573 92,295 111,241 107,310 151,361
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